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CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Good morning, and let me welcome everybody to today’s hearing.


For those of you who are unfamiliar, this is an informational hearing on Proposition 71, which is the proposed Stem Cell Research and Cures initiative which will be on the November ballot.


My name is Deborah Ortiz.  I am Senator Ortiz, and I am the Chair of the Senate Health and Human Services Committee.


We will be hearing today from a number of experts and witnesses, as well as from a number of individuals and organizations in support and opposition to this initiative.


For those of you who are unfamiliar, we’re obligated by law to have public hearings on the initiatives, and this is our legislatively authorized initiative hearing.  We’ve chosen to do it in this region, given the nature of the topic as well as the number of researchers in the region that make California a great state and make us a leader internationally in the area of biotech and medical research.


We’re joined here today by Roz Polmano, who is with the Assembly Health Committee.  Thank you for joining us, Roz.


Also we’re joined by Lindsay Boyd, who is a representative from Congressman Filner’s office.


We also have a representative, Deanna Spehn from Assembly Member Christine Kehoe’s office, and she’s welcome to join us at the dais, as well as Teresa Smanio, who is from the Senate Republican Policy Office, who’s also welcome to join us here at the dais, representing Senator Dick Ackerman.  So please, I encourage you to join us.  Feel free to participate here as staff and representatives of elected officials.


Many of you may know that I became a legislative champion for stem cell research in the State Senate when I enacted not only the authorizing legislation, but a number of other pieces of legislation to regulate in this area.  I came to this policy area as a result of my mother’s battle and eventual death due to ovarian cancer.  That prompted me in my early years in the Assembly to enact what was a successful $25 million a year research program for prostate and ovarian cancer.  We were able to fund that for three years straight through the General Fund appropriation for Ovarian and Prostate Cancer Research.


But it became clear that the General Fund would not deliver the long-term promise to medical research, and that another means of financing was necessary.  Medical and scientific research is the infrastructure that California should be committed to through a bonding mechanism.


My experience with the General Fund Program for Prostate and Ovarian Cancer Research led me to look at an option of introducing two legislative bond measures that we moved through the State Senate and were held in the Appropriations Committee.  Out of that processing of those policy issues I became aware of the fact that we could, indeed, fund research through bonds. Unlike the bricks and mortars that we had traditionally funded through schools, and highways and roads, I discovered that we could indeed fund research through bonding, and that it would be a sound and positive investment of our dollars.


So, I passed the first law in the nation to guarantee stem cell research, and out of that we set the model for other states to follow.  New Jersey has since successfully passed a law like California’s, and that occurred nine months after President Bush issued the Executive Order to ban any federal dollars being used for stem cell research.


I also established legislation that addressed what are very critical and very important issues, and we have an obligation as policy makers to address:  What are the legal and ethical implications of this type of research?


I also passed a law that said you cannot sell embryos for research, nor can you buy them for research.  You can donate them for research, and you can donate them to transfer to other couples to have children, but we ought not to be in the business of buying and selling embryos for the purpose of research, and it ought to be done as a volunteer basis.


So in 2003, I introduced legislation to provide bond financing for stem cell research.  That became the basis for what is now Proposition 71. 


I carried these bills for a simple reason.  President Bush is wrong.  Stem cell research will save lives and will reduce human suffering.  President Bush, if you won’t make funding available for stem cell research, we will.  We owe it to the 128 million Americans who suffer from chronic disease to invest in cures and better treatments.


Proposition 71 will help stop this suffering.  The public financing provided by Proposition 71 will advance stem cell research to its next level, and that’s why I support this proposal.  In my opinion, Proposition 71 represents our best hope at this point of realizing the potential of stem cell research.


With that, I would like to welcome you all here, and I would like to ask if there are staff from any of the Members’ offices that would like to make a brief statement.  If not, then we will begin with the panel discussions.


Let me allow an opportunity now for staff, that are declining.


Let’s move to the agenda and the first speaker on our agenda.


We’ve asked several witnesses to provide an overview of the current status of stem cell research.


We’ve asked several witnesses to provide an overview of the current status of stem cell research, the obstacles and barriers to the research, both in the perspective of patients and researchers.


A number of patient advocate groups have been sort of the unsung heroes, certainly in my opinion, trying to move the legislation through the Legislature, and among those individuals are Don Reed, who’s the Founder of Californians for Cures, as well as Greg Wasson, the Parkinson’s Action Network.


Don, please come forward, and Greg, welcome.



MR. REED:  My name is Don Reed.  I am the sponsor of the Roman Reed Spinal Cord Injury Research Act.  


My son is one of the 128 million Americans who have an incurable disease or disability which might benefit from the stem cell research.  My son was injured playing football, college football, September 10th, 1994.  He was having a brilliant game, 11 tackles, got the interception one-handed, and then on the third play of the fourth quarter, he went into one more tackle.  A 340-pound blocker came in from the side and accidentally hit his head and broke his neck.


The doctors said he’s paralyzed from the shoulders down; he would never walk, never close his fingers, never have a child, and he would die young.  I was told that I would outlive my own son.


With the primitive medications that were available then, and having therapy, we were able to bring back the triceps, the muscles on the backs of his arms, so that he could help get himself out of bed, and so that he could drive an adapted vehicle.  He’s going on with his life.


His doctor said he could not have a child.  He has two boys, Roman, Jr. and Jason Troy.  


But every day’s hell for him.  He’s coaching his son’s soccer team.  Last Saturday, he passed out because his body can’t handle the heat.


We passed the Roman Reed Spinal Cord Injury Research Act, and so far it’s spent $5 million of the California taxpayers’ money, and it’s brought in a profit, as good research will.  We’ve brought in $13 million additional dollars from NIH and other outside sources, the Christopher Reeve Paralysis Foundation.


The most exciting one for me was on March 1st, 2002, when I got to stand in the Roman Reed Laboratory and hold in my hand a rat which had been paralyzed and which walked again, thanks to stem cells.  The scientist who did that ground-breaking research was Dr. Hans Keirstead, who’s right here today.


Christopher Reeve sent us a letter I will always treasure, and the letter said, “One day, Roman and I will stand up from our wheelchairs and walk away from them forever.”  When that day comes, we will owe thanks to a lot of people:  scientists like 

Dr. Keirstead and Dr. Evan Snyder.  Welcome to California.  Boston’s loss is California’s gain.  And Larry Goldstein, who is not only a wonderful scientist, but he’s still valuable in being able to make his thoughts understandable.


But if I had to – there’s just too many people.  Proposition 71 is vital because it’s not just practical; it’s not just about saving money by lowering medical costs; but it’s about families.  Bob Klein, the incredible leader of our effort, he’s fighting for his son, Jordan, who has Type 1 diabetes, a vicious kind that can blind you or make you lose a leg or kill you.


Jerry and Jan Zucker, the famous movie director, Jerry Zucker, is known for his movies like Airplane and Ghost and Police Academy, many funny ones.  Their daughter has diabetes also, Katie.  And one night his wife got fed up and she says, “Jerry, do something.  Make something happen.  Do it.”  And Jerry responded with those immortal words every husband knows, “Yes, dear.”


But if I had to pick one person out more than anybody else, it would have to be Senator Ortiz.  You’re regarded as the Mother of California’s stem cell legislation, and there’s no overestimating her importance to this.  Every Californian owes her a vote of appreciation.


There will come a time we will pass this bill; we’ll pass Proposition 71 for our families, for our futures, to lower medical costs, to ease suffering.  We will open the door into a new day when we will trade hope for the reality of cure.


Thank you.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you, Don.


Let me now ask Greg Wasson with the Parkinson’s Action Network to join us.


Welcome, Greg, as always.  I do appreciate your hard work.



MR. WASSON:  Good morning.  My name is Greg Wasson, and I’m speaking on behalf of the Parkinson’s Action Network and as a person with Parkinson’s.


Parkinson’s is a progressive, degenerative, incurable, neurological brain disorder.  It slowly robs its victims of the ability to initiate or control movement.


Medications control the symptoms of Parkinson’s for several years, but eventually they become ineffective and produce side effects that can be as debilitating as the disease itself.


I have had Parkinson’s for nine years.  I have now reached the point where I must seriously consider deep brain surgery to try to alleviate my symptoms.  Surgery becomes necessary when the standard medications for Parkinson’s disease no longer work reliably.


Even though I currently take several medications every three hours, I can never be sure that they will work properly and give me another three hours of relief.  If they don’t, my chemical costume that you see giving me semi-normal functioning falls away and the real me emerges:  a man unable to walk without assistance, unable to stand without falling over, stooped, with shuffling steps, my face a rigid mask, unable to dress or shower without assistance, my voice and speech imprecise and difficult to understand.  And even when the medications work effectively, they do nothing to slow the progress of this disease.


Unfortunately, currently available surgery will also not slow the progression of my disease.  Like medication, available surgeries merely provide symptomatic relief.  


Undergoing deep brain surgery to obtain symptomatic relief for a few more years, while the underlying disease progresses unchecked, is a poor bargain.  It now may be the only way to avoid a premature slide into the twilight world of total functional disability, eventual coma, and death.


But now there is great hope that new therapies may be developed that will actually reverse or even cure my Parkinson’s and provide similar relief to the victims of many other diseases and conditions, including Type 1 diabetes, from which my brother suffers.  That hope is Proposition 71, $3 billion spent over 10 years to fund stem cell research, including embryonic research, by the brightest, most capable scientists in the world.


This is not a false hope.  As you will hear, the great majority of scientists believe that stem cell research holds the promise of breakthroughs in the treatment of just about any disease or condition in which cell death is a factor.  It promises to relieve the suffering -– relieve suffering on a scale unimaginable even a few years ago.  It promises nothing less than a revolution in medical science and the treatment of disease.


Passage of Proposition 71 will be the capstone of several years of very hard work by scientists, legislators, and patient advocacy groups here in California, as well as other concerned citizens.  


The legalization of embryonic stem cell research under legislation sponsored by Senator Ortiz made headlines around the world and laid the foundation for the enormous opportunity presented by Proposition 71.


Proposition 71 is scientifically, economically, and ethically the right move at the right time for California.  If a major disease like Parkinson’s or a spinal cord injury can be cured or successfully treated with new therapies developed from stem cell research, therapies which in fact have cured Parkinson’s and spinal cord injuries in mice, the cost of 

Prop. 71 will be repaid many times over.


As has been said before, the question is not how can we afford to undertake this work?  The question is, how can we afford not to undertake this work?


My future, my brother’s future, and that of my wife, who also struggles with Parkinson’s, will be in the hands of the voters in a few short weeks.  I have the greatest hope and trust that California will once again do the right thing.


Finally, I’d like to thank Senator Deborah Ortiz.  We wouldn’t have Proposition 71 without her vision and hard work in making California the first state to legalize stem cell research.  She stood up to an administration that has ignored science and all its potential in favor of politics and religious extremism.


Senator, I personally want to thank you for making it your job to see that my brother, my wife, and I, along with millions of others, stand a chance of being cured.  


Thank you for your time.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Greg, thank you so much.  Your stories are the stories that all Californians need to hear, need to remember, hopefully, as they sort through all of the messages they will receive before November and come to the conclusion, like many of us have, that this is the promise.


I want to take a moment to recognize A.J.  Thank you.  You’re always here in these historic moments, and we’ll get past this.  There’s going to be a good light at the end of the tunnel.  Thank you for being here.


We are so fortunate to have some of the best researchers in the world, not just in this region, but primarily in this region, but in California.  We’ve also been fortunate enough to lure others from elsewhere to stay here as a result of my long California.


The next speakers are going to provide all of us with the scientific perspective on stem cell research, and I’m really honored that they’re here.  I think we’re fortunate, and hopefully many of you will understand the value of this research once they complete their presentations.


With that, let me ask Evan, you’re going to present first?  Evan Snyder, who is an M.D. and Ph.D., and he’s the Program Director and Professor at Burnham Institute.  He’ll give you a little bit of his background and why he came to California.


Welcome, Evan.



[Due to inaudibility of the tapes, the testimony

of Dr. Evan Snyder and Dr. Hans Kierstead was

       unable to be transcribed.]



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you, Hans, and again, Evan. 


We are about 15 minutes behind schedule.  I do have a couple of questions, and I’m going to go ahead and ask those questions prior to having the Leg. Analyst’s Office come forward, giving an overview on the initiative.


Let me just ask, I think the two critical questions have been somewhat asked or at least responded to earlier in the testimony, but let me just direct two, I think, key questions to both Evan and Hans, whomever feels most experienced to answer.


Really the core question is, what is the impact of the restrictions on federal funding for embryonic stem cell research?  What has been your experience?


Secondly, how useful, and I know you went over this in your presentation, Evan particularly, how useful are the embryonic stem cell lines that have been made available as a result of the President’s directive?  And we heard somewhere between 72 and 68, and it’s now really down, as a practical matter, maybe 7 lines.  And we’ve been told these lines, even if we derived research out of some of these lines that may not be available and have restrictions, some are old, some are tainted, we cannot in fact apply those.  The application potential is nonexistent, given the fact that they have mice cells interjected in them.


So maybe, again, what’s the impact of the federal restrictions on the funding for embryonic stem cell research?  And secondly, how useful are those cell lines that are arguably available?



DR. SNYDER:  I’ll start, then I’ll turn it over to Hans.


I think the impact of the restrictions right now, and I would have to say, I’d have to agree with Hans.  Years ago, restrictions did not impact the biology.  But biology, as Hans mentioned, is a rapidly moving field, and now we’ve gone beyond what those cells can teach us.


So, any [unintelligible] clone cells, first of all, the restrictions are very expensive.  They’re very hard to get.  They’re very difficult because of intellectual property restrictions to share with your collaborators in order to spread expertise, express and share data.


They probably, as I mentioned in my talk, we don’t know if they really represent true biology.  One has to remember that those cells were obtained from infertility clinics at a particular time.


First of all, people who had, couples who had infertility problems, meaning they already have had genetic predispositions, we may be looking at cells that are flawed, that don’t really represent fundamental biology.  They certainly don’t represent a range of disease accessibility.  They do not represent a range of ethnics, a range of races.


So, again, as I mentioned before, when we want to draw conclusions about how the body is put together or diseases, we may be making wrong assumptions.  I’ll give you a quick example.


There is one set of lines that seem to persistently have genetic aberrations; just one of some of the lines that were there.  And it’s a logical thing, because you have to remember, these are families that have gone to an IVF clinic because they cannot conceive for a whole range of reasons.


Had we as scientists made the conclusion that this kind of genetic aberration is fundamental to stem cell biology, we would have been wrong.  It wasn’t until we began to be able to compare those data with other cells that we realized that just was something peculiar to that line, not to fundamental aspects of how the body is put together, or something of that kind.


I think we can make lines that are more effective and better.  The lines that exist now, and I think you may hear from some of the other witnesses that’ll testify to this, cannot be grown –- most of them cannot be expanded and massaged to an adequate number easily.  They cannot be dissociated into single cells easily, and that is the only way you can do a transplant.  They have been grown with cross-talking contamination with mouse lines, nonhuman lines, even lines from other humans.


We may be running the risk of, if we use these clinically, of not giving patients the best that we can do because we didn’t know enough back then to make a bent line, and we know how to do that now.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you for that.


I don’t know, Hans, if you want to add to either of the questions raised?



DR. KEIRSTEAD:  Certainly.


What are the impact of the restrictions?  There are several.


As Evan mentioned, and I won’t run over again, the ethnic diversities simply aren’t there.  These are wealthy, white, infertile stem cells, to put it bluntly.


Secondly, the restrictions have really done something akin to creating a monopoly.  The intellectual property around the current lines is quite tight.  And unless there are new lines, the freedom to operate for a lot of companies in particular is difficult.  So, it’s really resulted in a bit of monopoly medically.


Also, quite important and perhaps most importantly, it’s deterred new scientists from getting into this field.  It’s very disheartening to have to tell people that there’s such little funding for the research, basically.  And simply put, people are people; they’re scared, scientists as well, that they might embark upon a career as a new Ph.D., or a post-doctoral fellow, or a new assistant professor, only to have that field shut down.


So, restrictions say one thing; they are restrictions.  But they also present fear that worse restrictions may happen.


You know, a few years ago when the restrictions were put on, actually they were enabling.  They enabled some research to continue.


Now, they’re very, very detrimental.


How useful are the current lines?  You and I have separate talents because of our genetic makeup, and these lines clearly will have separate talents.  Some of them will be good at some things, and some will be quite poor at those things.


We don’t know what the diversity is, but common sense and hard core biology tells us that we should have more lines, greater diversity.


I have worked with a handful of lines in my laboratory, and I do have hard evidence that the lines vary in measurable ways.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  I appreciate the response to the questions.  


Let me now thank you both for presenting, and hopefully you’ll stick around if there are further questions.


With that, let’s move to Panel Number Two.  This panel will review the major provisions of Proposition 71, including its provisions dealing with government, public oversight, and accountability, as well as the criteria for review and approval of projects and development of medical and ethical standards.


Addressing this topic today will be two witnesses.  We have Celia Pedroza from the Leg. Analyst’s Office, as well as Dr. Larry Goldstein.  Let me ask Celia to come forward and present at the podium.


And Larry, good to see you, Larry, and you’ll be next.


Welcome, Celia.



MS. PEDROZA:  Thank you, Madame Chair, legislative staff members.


My name, again, is Celia Pedroza, and I’m with the Legislative Analyst’s Office.


Also here with me today is Dan Carson, the Director of our section, and Brad Williams, the Director of our Financial Forecasting Section as well.


As some of you may know, our office is required pursuant to California law to prepare an impartial fiscal analysis of each statewide ballot measure that’s placed before the voters.  And today, I’m here to share with you just a brief summary of the analysis that we’ve prepared for Proposition 71.


I believe your packet of information includes a handout that presents the information regarding the major provisions of the measure, the activities that are funded under Prop. 71, and our estimate for the fiscal effects of the initiative.  And I have extra handouts.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Will the Sergeants get those.



MS. PEDROZA:  Starting off on Page 1 of your handout, we lay out the major provisions of the measure.


First, the initiative authorizes the state to issue $3 billion in general obligation bonds but sets a cap on the total amount of bonds that would be issued each year, and the cap would be at $350 million.


The measure also contains language that details the financing and repayment structure of the bonds.  It specifies that during the first five years, the repayment of the principal would be postponed, and then the interest on the debt would be covered using bond proceeds.  After that five-year period, the principal and interest would be repaid using general fund resources.


Next, the measure also contains language that would establish the California Institute of Regenerative Medicine, and this institute would award grants and loans for stem cell research and research facilities.  The funding would come from the proceeds of the bond sales.  And in addition to its general responsibilities, the institute would also establish the regulatory standards for the research funded under this measure.


Thirdly, the ballot initiative also establishes a 29-member, politically appointed, Oversight Committee to govern the institute.  This committee would be comprised of representatives from a variety of organizations, including specified University of California campuses, companies with expertise in developing medical therapies, disease research advocacy groups, and other entities as well.


And lastly, the measure contains language that would require the Independent Oversight Committee to appoint members to three working groups.  And the focus of these working groups would look at guidelines and criteria for research project grants, facilities, and also would provide recommendations for scientific, medical and ethic standards.


On Page 2 of your handout, we’ve detailed the major activities that are funded under Proposition 71.  I’m starting off in the way –- in the order that revenues would be extracted from the bond sales.


Before any revenue could be distributed for research grants or to fund research facilities, a portion would need to be set aside to cover the bond administrative costs.  This is the cost of issuing the bonds.


Next, before the revenues could be distributed for research, a portion, up to 3 percent of the remaining funds, would be available to the institute to cover their general administrative costs.  And an additional 3 percent would be available for the institute for administrative costs that are specifically associated with grant-making activities.


And lastly, again, the remaining funds would be available for the institute to award its grants and loans for both research and research facilities, but of that portion, up to 10 percent would be available for the facilities or nonprofits that submitted proposals to develop facilities during the first five years.


And lastly with regard to this area, the initiative includes language that sets a priority for research grant funding, and it specifies that the institute would prioritize proposals that would not likely receive federal funding.


Lastly, on the third page of the handout, we summarized the major fiscal effects of the initiative and our estimates for those fiscal effects.  


Starting off with the most apparent, the borrowing costs, taking into consideration the current financing terms that exist today, we estimate that the cost to the general fund would be approximately $6 billion:  3 billion would be attributed to the principal, and 3 billion attributed to interest.


We also believe that there could be costs associated with the institute’s operating expenses.  As I indicated earlier, the measure does limit the amount of bond funding available for the institute’s administrative activities.  However, it doesn’t specify what would happen if the expenses exceeded the revenues available.  The amount of general fund support, if needed, is unknown at this time.


The next fiscal effect is in the area of loan repayment revenues.  The measure does authorize the institute to award grants and loans.  And to the extent that the institute awards loans, they would eventually receive revenues from the repayment of those loans.


Next, there would be state revenues from research.  The state would be authorized to receive payments from patents, royalties, and licenses resulting from research funded under the measure.  However, the actual dollar amount of the revenue generated would depend on the terms of the agreements negotiated with industry and, obviously, the outcome of this specific research.


Next, we also identified potential effects on the University of California.  To the extent that the UC system is awarded grant funding, it’s possible that it would be in a better position to leverage that funding to draw down federal or public resources –- private resources, pardon me.


And lastly, we also identified a number of potential indirect fiscal effects specifically in instances where the measure were to result in economic and other benefits that would not have otherwise occurred absent this measure.  To give you an example, if the research activity that’s funded under this measure and the investments translated into a net gain in jobs or taxable income, the state would stand to benefit, potentially, from those indirect benefits.


The likelihood, however, and the magnitude of those benefits at this moment are unknown for two primary reasons.  The measure does not identify specifically the types of research, the stem cell research, that would be funded; the criteria has yet to be established by the working group and the oversight committee.


And secondly, there’s still a question as to whether the General Fund resources that would be used to repay the bond debt, whether that would have otherwise gone towards other activities that would have resulted in greater benefits for the state.


Generally that’s a summary of our analysis.  Open for any questions.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  I have a couple of questions, but I think I’d like to hold off on the questions until after we hear from Mr. Goldstein.


But please, take a place nearby because we’ll call you forward on some of the fiscal impacts.  Thank you so much for your presentation.


Let me now ask Dr. Goldstein to come forward and present as well.  Welcome, Larry.  It’s good to see you.



DR. GOLDSTEIN:  It’s nice to see you, Senator.  Can you hear me all right?



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Yes.



DR. GOLDSTEIN:  Good.


So, I seem to be wearing a number of hats today, but let me start by thanking you, Senator.  As a scientist who is interested in developing understanding and treatment of disease, I can tell you that you have put California in a position to actually make a huge impact on that in the years to come.


Prop. 71 I view as the culmination of that effort, since it builds off the framework that you and your colleagues built in the Legislature, giving us a baseline of laws that guide this research, and now we need to find a way to provide the funding to enable that research to occur.


In putting Prop. 71 together, I served as a scientific advisor to the campaign.  I’d like to give you a little bit of my background so that there’s some understanding of what that basis for advice was.


I have a Bachelor’s Degree in biology and genetics from UC San Diego, here.  I actually have quite deep roots in this community.  I have a Ph.D. in genetics from the University of Washington.  I did post-doctoral work at the University of Colorado and the Massachusetts Institute of Technology.


I served on the faculty at Harvard University for 10 years, where I ultimately became a tenured Professor of Cell and Developmental Biology prior to coming home and joining the faculty at UCSD, where I’m currently a Professor of Cellular and Molecular Medicine and an investigator with the Howard Hughes Medical Institute.


I’ve co-founded a company in California that has drugs in clinical trials now for cancer and hopefully soon for heart failure.  I’ve served on a number of public science advisory boards over the years, as well as a number of editorial boards in my field, including the Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology, the Journal of Cell Biology, and Molecular Biology of the Cell.


I believe that I have a reasonable foundation in understanding of the science, policy issues, and fiscal matters.


My employers like it when I say that my opinions and my advice provided to the campaign reflect my personal views and experiences as a scientist, and in no way reflect negatively on them should anything bad happen.  And if anything good happens, they’ll take all the credit.


I’d like to cover some of the technical aspects of the proposition from the standpoint of a scientist.  


First of all, Proposition 71 was created to leverage off of the foundation of law that has already been built in this state regarding stem cell and embryonic stem cell research with appropriate ethical, fiscal, and other responsible protections.  


And I can tell you as a scientist interested in understanding and treating disease, the work that we now need to do to attack Lou Gherig’s Disease and Alzheimer’s Disease in my lab depends critically upon our ability to do this research.  And I know that many other labs tackling these same problems, as you heard from Dr. Snyder and Dr. Keirstead, we all face a similar challenge.


But you don’t need to believe us.  We know that over 80 Nobel Laureates over the past several years have written in support of this research to the administration and others, and we count among scientific endorsements of this initiative not only the patient groups and medical associations, but 20 Nobel Laureates in biomedical science.  And I would argue that they have a reasonable understanding of the science as well as the proven record of vision and, I would argue, intellectual courage.


The second thing I’ll say is, Prop. 71 is indeed currently focused on utilizing stem cell research to cure and treat disease.  Stem cell research is in many ways an enabling technology, analogous to what recombinant or gene splicing technology was in the early ‘70s, where we have before us a great vista of potential opportunity and discover whose impact, I believe, exceeds our current imaginations.  This is what we saw with recombinant DNA.  At the time the notion was, oh, we should be able to make human insulin, and everybody could understand that, looking forward.


What we’ve learned in science is that generally our imaginations do not match what is capable of being discovered when creative, innovative scientists are fully funded to pursue the research that needs to be pursued.


The third point I want to make is that Prop. 71 establishes an oversight and governance system that I believe is second to none.  It basically, using a political appointment process in combination with statutory appointment, provides for the creation of the Independent Citizens Oversight Committee, or effectively a governing board of some of the greatest educational, scientific, and regulatory minds in the state:  university presidents, patient advocates, business leaders, all whose primary mission will be to make sure that this works and works well.


Now, Prop. 71 as written lays out a relatively explicit and extremely strong framework for making sure that research funds are awarded with the greatest attention paid to scientific merit as well as focus on potential impact on disease.  It does so by using a system that is analogous and is modeled after the system in place at the National Institutes of Health.  Where working groups in the Prop. 71 framework are analogous to study sections at the National Institutes of Health.  Where scientific review is done of the applications.  They are rated, and then those ratings go to the institute council at the NIH, the ICOC in the Prop. 71 framework, for final decisions on funding as well as making sure that scientific merit is well aligned with the mission of the institute.


This same structure also ensures, and this is something that I’ll come back to in a moment, that there are strong ethical and regulatory guidelines in place to ensure that the practices of donation and, on those happy moments when we get to the point of clinical trials with people, that those people are protected consistent with stringent regulatory practices that we recognize as norms in the scientific and medical communities. 


Now, I want to note at this point that there is a great deal of concern in our society about the potential misuse of technology by some of the fruitcakes among us to try and attempt human reproductive cloning, and Prop. 71 adds to the existing canon of statutory law in the state by forbidding funding for research that will lead us towards reproductive cloning or in reproductive cloning research itself.


Prop. 71 includes a number of strict financial and ethical controls that are relevant to protect our funds, to protect our patients, to protect women, and to protect society.  There are annual reporting requirements by committees appointed by the Controller.  And, I might note that the Controller is a strong supporter of this initiative.  He has studied it in depth, and Controller Westly has concluded that not only is this a good investment for the state, but it has a level of oversight and fiscal accountability relatively unequaled in most other state agencies.


In addition to annual reporting of the financial considerations, there are annual reporting requirements for the conduct of the research, the type of research, and the impact it is having.


With respect to ethics, Prop. 71 provides for working groups that will develop recommended guidelines for ethical and patient protection norms, which then go the Oversight Committee for discussion and adoption and approval.  That process is fully open, according to Open Meeting Laws available in the state for public input and participation.


I might also note that the regulatory requirements for patient protections are also governed by federal law.  And federal law, through the FWA system, the Federal Welfare Assurance system, which provides that all research in institutions that receive federal funding as well must conform to the common rule, which is 45 CFR 46 for the legalistic among you, as well as the ethical protections laid out in the Belmont Report.  And so, Prop. 71 will have to use that as a basis and build upon it.


Now, of course, moving forward, you do not want to freeze ethical guidelines in place in 2004 because we know that in 2005, 2006, and 2007 we will have new situations as therapies begin to be developed for people where we will indeed need to build on the baseline provided by the common rule of federal protections and improve patient protections to meet the challenges of adopting new medical therapies.


Let’s see.  The final points I would like hit here, we talked about patient protections, tissue protections and the like.  I can answer questions about that.


I just really stress that the ethical and fiscal structure bridges from established standards as the base and then moves forward.


And finally, that any significant action must be done in public and with Open Meeting requirements.


So, I think that many people have a concern that to launch an innovative new type of endeavor in a state such as California brings with it risk.  And I think that the history of science and the history of society tells us that to enjoy great benefit, you must sometimes incur some risk.


But let me point out that there is an even greater risk to not pursuing this type of research.  We face a tidal wave of Alzheimer’s Disease coming at us.  We are in the midst of an epidemic of diabetes.  Lou Gherig’s Disease would be actually quite a bit more common were it not the unfortunate fate of these people to die so rapidly because we have so little in our armamentarium that helps us.


So, I’m going to argue that at the end of the day, independent of the economic benefits to the state that Professor Baker will speak about a bit later, that the medical benefits and the potential medical benefits are so substantial that we must proceed; we must not risk being frozen in place by our fear of possible risk moving forward.


Thank you.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you so much, Larry, for your presentation.  As always, it’s very helpful.


Let me now ask you to share the podium because I’m going to have some questions for Celia and you as well, the representative from LAO.  If she could come forward, rather than have everybody sit down, I think it’s important.


Celia, if it’s appropriate for us to ask others to respond from your office, please let us know.


I want to get to the heart of the concern and legitimate issues that have been raised, that I think might possibly have been asked and answered, but I think it’s important for the public to have a level of confidence in a couple of areas.


Certainly the fiscal safeguards and the mechanisms in place as proposed in this initiative, Celia, can you outline or speak briefly to sort of a public accountability standard in the initiative that includes sort of an auditing process and the requirement that all meetings occur in public, and that they be subject to the Open Meeting Act?  


Particularly, and this is a really important point, because the argument has been made, and will be made today and up until the election, that there are inherent conflicts of interest in terms of corporate wealth.  And it’s certainly something that in my legislative proposal on the measure, and our discussions with the advisory groups, we crafted those to assure that those who are voting on these research grants are not allowed to personally benefit, and that those conflict of interest laws are going to be in place.


So one, what are the public accountability standards in the initiative, including but not limited to things like the audit requirement?  If you could explain to the public what that auditing requirement entails, as well as what the Open Meeting requirements will require for this initiative, as well as the conflicts of interest requirements.  If you could, address those points.


I think it’s important for the LAO, as the independent external agency, to address those.



MS. PEDROZA:  Certainly.  Thank you, Madame Chair.


The ballot measure does contain language describing certain mechanisms that, it’s our understanding, are intended to exactly provide those assurances:  to ensure that the funding’s being spent appropriately.  Examples of those mechanisms include an annual report that the institute is required to present to the general public.  And as the previous speaker indicated, the information that would be shared would include updates on the activities that the institute was involved in, the grants that were awarded, the grants that are in progress, and importantly, the research accomplishments as well.


The measure also contains language that would require the institute to commission an independent financial audit, required to be completed by a certified public accounting firm, and it’s provided to the State Controller’s Office, who would then evaluate, interpret it, and then report to the public its findings.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Let me ask you on that point, do other bond measures have a comparable auditing mechanism in them?  Have we seen those in other initiatives?



MS. PEDROZA:  I’m not sure at this point.  Let me turn to my colleagues.


No, at this point, no, we don’t believe that these are similar provisions in other bond measures.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Let me just go a step further, because my understanding is that, in fact, we have provisions in this initiative that go beyond the auditing requirements that are internal to the language of other measures.


We, the Legislature, have oversight, monitoring.  And let’s face it, based on some of the things we’ve seen recently, we’re not real good at following up.


But this, the way I read this, actually has language in the enacting legislation that itself requires an audit, which I think is almost unprecedented in other initiatives that I’ve seen on bond measures.


You know, we can take some time.  I don’t mind being corrected and told otherwise.  But I think it’s important.  I’ve yet to see an initiative drafted that has that internal auditing provision.


Take your time and correct me.  If we need to come up later, you guys confer over there.


Can you talk to me a bit about the conflict of interest requirements, and please address it to sort of the average person in the audience who is concerned, and ought to be concerned, that those who sit on these panels that review these grants might unjustly enrich themselves at the public’s expense.


Many of us who are subject to conflict of interest laws are very familiar with them, but I think it’s important to the public to have a level of confidence.



MS. PEDROZA:  In terms of what the measure describes, it does require the institute to comply with existing state law pertaining to conflict of interest.


It does make an exception, however, to allow individuals who have a relative who’s suffering from a particular illness that is related to a proposal being reviewed by the Oversight Committee, it allows them to participate in the decision making process.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  And I think that’s an appropriate distinction, because what that means is, they will not financially benefit, but they might accrue some benefit by saving their loved one.  There’s a distinction there, versus someone who votes to approve a grant that will financially benefit their company or their spouse's company.  So, there’s a distinction between a financial benefit to that person casting a vote to fund a grant or a project versus someone casting a vote, a disease advocacy group, who wants to save the life of their loved one.



MS. PEDROZA:  Right.


And as an add-on, it’s similar a number of conflict of interest laws.  In general what they’re intended to do is exactly what you have described, to avoid situations where someone is making decisions where they could financially benefit from in general.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  So that will be a criticism.  We really need people to read the initiative and understand that there are adequate conflict of interest provisions in this measure.  And the law is filled with them.


The question is, you know, have we put the safeguards in place?


Are there other points that you want to add on these?



MS. PEDROZA:  There is just one additional point.


The initiative also contains language that would require a financial accountability oversight committee to be established.  And this committee would be comprised of representatives from the State Controller’s Office, the State Treasurer, the President Pro Tem would all appoint public members to this committee.  And they’ll all have medical backgrounds and financial backgrounds to help them in their decision making.  And they will provide recommendations on the institute’s financial practices and performance.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  I appreciate that.


Let me just go to another point that you raised, and it’s going to be another issue that is going to be used by opposition.  I think the LAO has to provide that independent analysis.


What you have done is, you’ve estimated that it could be up to 6 billion in costs.  I want you to sort of frame for the public, when you do those outer “up to” kind of costs in other bond measures, you’re charged with giving the worst case scenario and the best case scenario.  And in this case, the $6 billion figure is alarming because it looks like a $3 billion bond measure.


Can you clarify your basis for that “up to” 6 billion?  Is that based on current borrowing rates when we go out and issue bonds?  Walk us through Bond 101.



MS. PEDROZA:  I think at this point I’m probably going to defer to my colleague, Brad Williams.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Great.



And maybe, Brad, in preparation to coming forward, you can also address why it’s hard for us to calculate potential revenue.  So, it’s not only on the potential $6 billion cost question, but also understating or not being able to confidently say, "Yeah, there’s a lot of revenue that we’re going to get from this, but we can’t quantify it.”



MR. WILLIAMS:  Certainly, Senator Ortiz.



Again, Brad Williams from the Legislative Analyst’s Office.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you for being here.



MR. WILLIAMS:  Regarding the $6 billion, that is our estimate of what $3 billion of debt would cost to repay, both the principal, the original 3 billion, and the interest over, in this case, over more than 30 years.


It’s based on an interest cost of about 5-1/4 percent.  It is the interest estimate that we have used for the other general obligation bonds.  I think in many respects, this GO debt is very similar.  It has some special characteristics, but in terms of the interest cost, we believe that it is sort of a best –- it’s not a best case and it’s not a worst case.  It’s just an estimate at this point.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  And this is the same estimate you use for every other bond that we’ve passed, $15 million in one education bond measure; 15 million in our debt consolidation measure.  Walk us through.



MR. WILLIAMS:  We, over the years, have used different interest rate assumptions.


This interest rate assumption is close to what current long-term yield debt is selling for in California.  Some variable rate debt has gone for less, but you have to recognize that if it’s variable rate, it’s like a variable rate home mortgage.  Over the next 30 years, it could go up.  And we are in a situation right now where short-term interest rates are at historic lows, and these bonds will be sold over the next 10 years.


So, our practice has been for any GO debt to look at where we are with respect to long-term debt, and just use that as the basis for our estimate.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Now, this bond measure reflects, what, maybe less than one percent of our total bonding obligation at this point in California?



MR. WILLIAMS:  Let me see.  Right now, we have roughly 30 billion or so of debt outstanding.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  So we have 30 billion, and this reflects 3 billion.



MR. WILLIAMS:  $3 billion, and it would be sold over the next 10 years.  And in addition to the amount of debt we have outstanding, which I may be a little bit off on that, but there’s a lot that’s outstanding, and then there is also a lot of borrowing capacity.


We have authority to issue education bonds that were just approved in March, as well as resources bonds that were passed a couple of years ago.  So, there’s an additional 30 billion or so of debt capacity that is out there.


So, it’s a fairly small share of the total borrowing that we both have outstanding and we have authority to issue over the next, say, 10 years.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Under our bond, we’re well within our bonding capacity limit as a state?



MR. WILLIAMS:  Well, I think the situation for California is, historically we have been, compared to others states, fairly low.


I think in recent years, while we have approved a lot of bonds and a lot of bonds have been sold, we are coming up, if you just looked at our general obligation debt, we are close to about 5 percent or so of our General Fund annual revenues goes to debt service.  That’s still a little bit on the low side relative to other states.


But this year, when the voters approved Proposition 57, the big deficit bond, the State Treasurer sold $11.3 billion of those bonds this year, and there is an additional very sizeable amount of debt service associated with that bond.


If you combined the debt service on that bond, and it’s a little bit different because it has a dedicated revenue stream, we have to repay it, but it also has General Fund backing, and the markets sort of look at it similarly to General Fund debt, I believe.  When you combine that over the next 9-13 years, our debt service ratio is going to move up a little bit into the higher range.  It’s probably going to be above 7 percent for a few years before we would expect it to come down.


Debt is higher than it has been in California historically.  It is probably in the high range of other states.  It is not a barrier.  We have not reached a barrier in terms of the amount of debt that we can issue.


There are some states that have higher debt ratios that have very high bond ratings.  There are some that have lower ratios that have low bond ratings.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Let me just ask, and I think this is the crux of concern that I think I have that, I think, needs to be articulated a little more strongly.


Your office has traditionally not wanted to quantity the offsetting financial benefits because they’re often unknown, and we can only look back and project based on lots of bonds in the past.


And I think that this goes to the presentation by Ms. Pedroza, where the call on the bond dollars are prioritized.  I think that’s really important.


But we potentially see, you know, significant financial benefits, even though you can’t quantify them, and they would come by the way of licensing royalties, as well as patents, state and local taxes, either income tax -– the average biotech job in California is $65,000 or $70,000 a year.  The economic advantage and value to those salaries, as well as an industry that, despite our low times in California, has been a constant driver of jobs and the economy, certainly in this region.  We are known internationally as the biotech center in California.  We’ve got a couple of wonderful clusters.


And I know you office cannot convey to the public in any kind of projection manner, but what hypothetically are the sources of potential revenue, even if you can’t identify the amount that could flow from this type of research?



MR. WILLIAMS:  Well I think, Senator, the biggest hypothetical benefit, and I think that the difficulty that you had indicated is that it’s very, very difficult for us to quantity whether that would –- you know, the actual benefit would be relatively small relative to existing law or sizeable.  We just simply don’t have the basis.


But I think the largest source of economic benefit would be if the issuance of these bonds, if this program, resulted in basically a much larger industry in California than would have otherwise existed without the benefit of these bonds.  And that, you know, because of breakthroughs and because of progress, there is the creation of a new industry, a lot of investment, a lot of new jobs, a lot more grant money coming in from both private sources and from, at some point maybe, the federal government.  That is the biggest potential.


I think the problem we face in trying to quantify that is that we all hope that this type of research yields extraordinary both medical benefits and economic benefits, but it’s hard for us to quantify what that will be.  And more importantly, what the incremental effects of this program will be.


The other part of this is that these monies are coming -– the bonds have to be repaid.  They will come from taxpayers.  And we have to think, at least hypothetically, about what else could have been funded with these programs.  To many people, this could be the best and highest use of those funds, but the money is coming from other places, and other people may have different opinions.


And so, we have to balance those factors out.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Certainly.  And I respect that, because I know we have to balance the budget every year.



MR. WILLIAMS:  Right.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  It’s not an easy task.


But let me just say, if we could, and we go through this all the time in Budget Subcommittee on Health and Human Services, if we could simply quantify one disease, diabetes, and I’m not distinguishing Type 1 or Type 2 because diabetes is an epidemic; we’re not near epidemic, we are epidemic.  And we have an age cohort of children that are going to devastate the state in, you know, 20 years.


If we simply quantify the costs of health care in our public health care programs, our managed care programs, our retiree programs, on that one disease, and maybe we can do this between now and certainly not before November, but I think that disease alone we'd see a savings to taxpayers and the public, and we would not have to then fund indefinitely or, quite frankly, not fund Medi-Cal every year as we fight to fund that program, or Healthy Families as we fight to hold onto those programs, or programs for the aged, blind and disabled.  That disease alone, one disease, could we realize the savings.


I really want -– and LAO does not want to do that.  We’ve fought battles in the budget process with Finance as well to try to quantify that, but it doesn’t take a rocket scientist to figure out that we save money on one disease alone.  And many predict we’re less than 10 years away producing islet cells to, you know, create insulin in the pancreas.


I’m going to put that out there whether you consider it or not.


Larry, I know you want to comment but let me just pass.


I’m going to also just remind the public that I think what Ms. Pedroza did in her presentation is to make it very clear, the first call on these bond dollars are to set aside money for the administrative costs of the bonds.  That’s the first call on these revenues.


The second call is up to 3 percent that would go for administration of the initiative.


The third call on the dollars is, limiting to 3 percent, the grant-making administrative costs.


And the next call would then be, finally, after you pay all those costs, you then get to fund the research.


So, I think it’s really important that we understand whatever potential risk and obligation in the cost of this to the state for administering the program, that gets paid off the top.  


And I am far more confident, based on the models we’ve seen in the public/private partnerships with Biostar and the other models, this is not unprecedented.  We’ve seen the models in the state-funded research programs through the University of California system, that we have seen innovation; we have seen products arising.  


And this is the next logical step of a public/private partnership that many on the other side of the aisle frequently call for.  And this is the kind of investment; this is the economic development.  When you move away the ideological, ethical, moral debates, this is about economic development in one of the strongest industries not just in this state but in the nation.  And California has made its mark, and it ought not to lose that standing.


Never mind we’re saving millions of Americans with these cures in these diseases.


I thank you for your presentations, and I know you guys have been great.  I appreciate that.


I don’t know if there are questions from staff?


I know, Larry, you wanted to add some comments?



DR. GOLDSTEIN:  Yes, thank you, Senator.


Let me point out a couple of things relevant to the questions you just asked.


First of all, California is at risk currently of losing what is a major technological edge relative to the rest of the world in biotechnology.  We see our competitors investing heavily in this area, and we know that those -– the capacity to maintain the technological lead is quite volatile and can be lost and not regained very quickly.


Second, I did not stress, and should have, that in the first 5 to 6 years of bond issuance, there’s going to be a reserve fund established so that there is no burden to the General Fund for at least 5, probably more like 7 years out.  And I think Professor Baker will talk about a bit more.  So, the costs are deferred while the state economy is still recovering and while the economic benefits begin to accrue.


The third point I want to make is, I’m not a rocket scientist.  But I do know some of the numbers about diabetes that you raised.  Our current estimates are that there are between 100,000 and 150,000 Type 1 diabetics in the State of California.  Estimates from the Diabetes Association suggests that a healthy person has about a $2500 health care cost annually, while a person with Type 1 diabetes has about a $13,000 health care cost annually.


I’d argue that that’s about a $10,000 excess in health care costs to our society for Type 1 diabetes alone.  If you imagine that there are 100,000 to 130,000 people, you are looking at an economic burden of $1 to $1-1/2 billion a year for Type 1 diabetes alone.  That is real money.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  That comes from dialysis, heart disease –-



DR. GOLDSTEIN:  The whole show:  amputation, risks of blindness, other dysfunction that comes from chronic illness.


Because remember, insulin is a treatment, not a cure.  And so, while these people no longer die so early, they nonetheless experience chronic and developing degenerative disability of rather large proportion.


The final issue I raise is, you justifiably tried to draw the Legislative Analyst out on what do we know about likely benefits from this type of research.  And the fact is that we know a great deal, and Professor Baker will touch on this as well.  We know a great deal from historical audits of federal funding of biomedical research through the NIH.


Several years ago, there was a committee of the House and the Senate, bipartisan, bicameral, of the Commerce Committee, chaired by a conservative Republican, Connie Mack of Florida, which audited the benefit to the nation of NIH funding over the past several decades.  And what they learned was quite surprising.  The nation currently experiences somewhere from 25-40 percent annual rate of return, that’s an interest rate effectively, of 25-40 percent per year historically on this type of funding of biomedical research.


We know that this sort of investment reaps major dividends.


Thank you.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you, Larry.  We’re always grateful.


We’re behind time, and I want to get the Treasurer’s Office to make some of the points you have made.


Let me now ask that we start Panel III, which is Proposition 71 Bonding and Financing Provisions.  Let’s hear from representative from the Treasurer’s Office and from bond counsel on the bonding provisions of Prop. 71, including the amounts and timing of bonds that are authorized, the debt service costs, and the general process for issuing the bonds.


Welcome, I believe we have Juan Fernandez here as well as –- well, you’ll introduce yourselves, and you decide who goes first.



MR. FERNANDEZ:  Thank you, Madame Chair.


My name is Juan Fernandez.  I am the Director of the Public Finance Division from the Treasurer’s Office.


We were invited to come here this morning to speak briefly about the bond issuance and the process, and that sort of thing.


So, like the LAO has already indicated, the bond measure authorizes the issuance up to $3 billion of general obligation bonds.  It limits that in that it allows the issuance of only up to $350 million annually.


With respect to timing, if I may, let’s start, for example, with the election.  If the proposition is successful on election day, it takes the Secretary of State 39 days, and normally they take the full 39 days, to certify the election results.  So, nothing can happen during that time period.


After that, the institute can begin to create itself and staff, and developing, I believe, there’s regulations and guidelines on these plans are going to be reviewed, and so forth.  That I think you’re going to find is going to be a lengthy process.


Once the grants have been awarded, the institute will come to the Treasurer’s Office and request bond funds.  Now, in the Treasurer’s Office, we have a program to provide cash or bond funds to the departments quickly, so they don’t have to wait for a bond sale to get their money.


So what would happen is, the finance committee that oversees -– once they come to us and request the money, the finance committee that oversees the bond program, which in this case is the California Stem Cell Research and Cure’s Finance Committee, they would meet.  They would adopt a resolution authorizing the Treasurer to sell bonds. 


On the same day we have another state body, which is called a Pooled Money Investment Board, which oversees all the state cash, that board would authorize a loan to the institute for the amount that they require for the next 6-12 months.  And that gets funded within 7-10 days of that board meeting.


So very quickly from the time that they request the cash to the time that they receive it, it would be less than a month.


The bonds, we sell bonds not only for this program but for dozens of other general obligation bond programs.  And we normally do not sell bonds for a particular bond act, but we group them together.  So, we normally sell bonds, you know, 4-5 times a year, depending on the need and the market condition.


The bottom line is that the institute will not have to wait for any bond sale to get their cash.  The cash they’ll get when they need it from other programs.


There were a couple questions about the cost of the bond act.  It is very difficult, and I sympathize with Mr. Williams, in predicting over the next 10 years what interest rates are going to be.  We sold some bonds, some general obligation bonds, last week.  The interest cost on those bonds were 4.6 percent.


When Mr. Williams did his analysis a few weeks ago, interest rates were closer to, you know, 5-1/4, so you can see the change in the interest rate environment.  So, it’s very difficult.


But we did our analysis, assuming the 5-1/4, and it is about $3 billion.  But nobody can predict today what the total cost is going to be.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  It’s sort of like a mortgage market.  You can only look back, not forward.



MR. FERNANDEZ:  If I could do that –-



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:   Yes.



MR. FERNANDEZ:  Now, to give you a –- and I know you’re running short, so I won’t take much of your time.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  No, please, this is very important.  Take your time.



MR. FERNANDEZ:  Like Mr. Williams says, we have $33 billion in outstanding general obligation bonds.  We also have an additional $29 billion that has not been issued.  That’s going to be issued over the next probably 5, 7, 8 years.  These bonds are $3 billion, so you can see the magnitude.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  The potentially $70 billion, roughly $70 billion, and we’re $3 billion of that?



MR. FERNANDEZ:  Yeah.  Some of that $70 billion will be repaid, amortized, over the next few years, but nonetheless, it’s less than 10 percent of the overall.


As far as the cost, right now the state General Fund, and it’s going to be doing this for the next 5 years, it’s going to spend about $2.9 to $3 billion in General Fund revenues to pay debt service on the $33 billion that is currently outstanding.  That number’s going to increase as we issue some of the $29 billion that we haven’t issued yet.


So, by the time these bonds get –- some of these bonds get issued, we could be seeing General Fund commitment to pay debt service to be over $3 to $3-1/2 billion.


The maximum debt service we estimate on these bonds annually is going to be $200 million.  So, that’s the maximum.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  That’s the maximum annual debt service on –-



MR. FERNANDEZ:  On the $3 billion.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  200 million.



MR. FERNANDEZ:  Yes.


So, it’s significantly less than 10 percent.  I thought that would give you some –-



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  I think it’s quite helpful.



MR. FERNANDEZ:  Okay.


That’s kind of my presentation.


With me here is Mr. Bob Feyer.  He’s the State Bond Counsel with the firm of Orrick Herrington.  And he’s here to answer questions about any legal topics.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  All right, let me ask a couple of questions for either of you then.  And I think you answered the question.


What is the level of the state’s current bonded indebtedness?  How much will be added by Prop. 71?  


Relatively less than 10 percent is what you suggested.



MR. FERNANDEZ:  Yes.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Have you done an estimate of the cost of the state of the bonds over their lifetime?  I think you reiterated sort of that difficulty of projecting going forward, but that the $3 billion is not an unreasonable figure.


What is the maximum level of research expenditures that can be undertaken in a single year?  I think that was the 350 million.



MR. FEYER:  Well, I will try to -–



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  And is there a carry-over, and if so, what is it?



MR. FEYER:  Yeah, there –- the act provides a maximum bond issuance of $350 million per year.  And if that amount isn’t used, then the balance carries over.


It’s probably, one would think, that this is going to be ramping up, and that the first year which –- the first year of applicability would be calendar year 2005.  They may not be ready to use $350 million.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  So, we could –-



MR. FEYER:  They could carry it over.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  -- $700 million after the ramping up.



MR. FEYER:  Yeah.  It could –-



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  And $550 million if it’s not –-



MR. FEYER:  Some year or other.


In any year where money becomes available, as the Leg. Analyst’s folks pointed out, a certain amount, basically 6 percent, is going to come off the top for various administrative expenses of the institute and the programs, and the balance would be available for research grants and also in the first 5 years for grants for facilities.


So, the actual, and the final answer, the actual amount to be specifically dedicated to research will actually depend upon what the institute decides, how they decide to allocate their funds because, again, they can perhaps take less for administration if they wish, and if they have other sources or if they don’t need as much as the 6 percent, and also they have the ability to dedicate some of the -- up to 10 percent, of the funds for bricks and mortar facilities in which the research is going to be carried out.


Again, perhaps there’s available facilities, and they can dedicate more to research and less to bricks and mortar.  So, there is flexibility.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  A couple of points.  One on the bricks and mortar piece.  


Many argue that, you know, you want to find a balance between not allowing this money to be used to build a bunch of buildings and not do research.  And I think this is a very conservative estimate to allow a small part of it.


Let me also say that it’s an essential part of it simply because if, indeed, the federal policy stays in place, in which you cannot use federal dollars to do stem cell research, then there’s going to be a need to separate the labs, the accounting mechanisms, the buildings, the IT systems.  


So, this is a wise setting aside of a bit of dollars here to assure that we don’t run afoul of federal law on the funding that we receive.  We don’t want to jeopardize non-stem cell funding from the federal government, and therefore we need to separate, not co-mingle, basically the buildings and the lab settings to jeopardize the existing federal dollars that we receive for research.



MR. FEYER:  Right, but that’s all going to be in the discretion of the institute to seek the funding, to allocate the funding.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  And let me make another point, and I was going to raise it with Ms. Pedroza, but I’m just going to close with this.


There is a provision in the measure.  One of the difficulties of projecting potential financial benefits or revenue sources and incomes is really a function of the terms and conditions that are entered into for the royalties, and the revenues, and the patenting rights.  And this is a cautionary message, and I think we all ought to be vigilant.


Not only do we want to allow scientific freedom, we don’t want to hamper and we don’t want to unduly discourage research that could lead to cures for diseases, but on the other hand, this is public dollars.  And we have an obligation to assure that those terms and conditions are going to accrue to the benefit of the public.


And where we will all be vigilant if this passes, to go to those public meetings, to hold those appointees accountable that those terms and conditions of the research product are going to be also safeguard the public’s dollars.  


So, that’s the provision in this measure that allows the opportunity to do that, and it also makes it sort of that question mark on how much revenue we can realize.  And it’s going to be spelled out in those contractual obligations on how much revenue comes back to the state as the result of us financing that front-end to research product so that when you go to market, the profit generated comes back to the public as well.


And I will just –- I’ve made that very clear to everybody.  In my remaining two years left in the Legislature, that’s something that we all ought to hold very closely.  And it’ll affect the financials and the revenues that potentially come from this and/or the cost to the rest of the state.


With that, I don’t have any other questions, unless there’s staff or anyone that wants to weigh in.


Let me thank you for your presentations.  It’s most helpful.  It’s good to see you both again.  We’ve come a long way since those early meetings.



MR. FEYER:  Yes, Senator, I remember.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Yes, great meetings.


Let me now ask that we have our next panel come forward.  We have the Panel IV, the Costs and Economic Impact of Prop. 71, Mr. Baker as well as Mr. Gollaher.  Let’s have Mr. Baker come forward.


And David, are you here?  Good to see you.


We’ll have Mr. Baker begin.  And I’m going to actually leave the podium for a moment and I will be outside, but I’ll be listening.  So, I apologize.



DR. BAKER:  That’s quite all right.


I want to say thanks for the opportunity to be here.  I’m really delighted to be able to talk about the economic issues associated with this proposition.


I’m an economist.  I’m a faculty member at Stanford University.  I’ve been there for over 10 years now, working in various areas of health economics, regulatory policy, and health; a range of issues associated with outcomes for patients and the economic issues in health care.


I’ve been engaged for about a year now with a colleague of mine, Bruce Deal, from Analysis Group Incorporated, in an economic analysis of Proposition 71.  We’ve been looking at various aspects of the costs associated with the bond, as well as the benefits that could accrue to the state, and I want to tell you a little bit about that.


We actually have a very lengthy report, and I think there are some copies around, so I’m not even going to begin to go into the details of all the modeling that underlies things.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Let me make sure that the Sergeants have it.  Did we receive this ahead of time?


Okay, we do have it.  We’ll have the Sergeants handle that.  


Sergeants, please make sure that we handle this appropriately.  And the public needs to have access to that.


So, everything has to go through the Sergeants.



DR. BAKER:  In this short period of time, there’s really no way for me to go through all the details of it, so we’ll hop a little bit from the tip of one iceberg to the tip of another.  Hopefully we can find the interesting tips of the iceberg to hop from and cover the basic points in the analysis.


At the end of the day, what I’m going to get to is that we have taken the opportunity here to illustrate some scenarios about the kinds of revenues that could come back to the state, the benefits that could accrue under this initiative.  We illustrate a range of scenarios that we believe to be relatively conservative in their expectations about the successes that could happen under the initiative, and try to cover some different possibilities of different sources of revenues.


In the end, what we find is that even small successes, even relatively limited increases in the size of the biotechnology sector, even relatively limited reductions in health care spending, could produce revenues to the state that would exceed the costs associated with borrowing and repaying the bond money.  Even the most limited case scenarios that we model, in fact, produce more than $6 billion in revenues to the state over the 35-year life of the initiative.


In the less sort of conservative models that we worked on, the scenarios that we model, which I would say are not at all aggressive even in their expectations, we find revenues to the state that could far exceed the cost of the bonds and the repayment of the bonds on the order of maybe 7 times the cost of the bonds.  


So, in very aggressive [sic] scenarios, we find revenue potential that’s equal to or greater than the cost of the bonds.  In broader scenarios, we find –- more successful scenarios we find potential for much greater revenues.


So let me talk for just a second, or just a few minutes probably, about the different aspects of the analysis.  We did this in four or five pieces, depending on how you want to think about it.  


The first piece was to take a look at the cost to the state of borrowing the money and repaying it.  So, we built some economic models of that.


Then we looked at four areas of potential benefits that could accrue to the state.  The first area is tax receipts that would come from new funded activity.  So, the new jobs, and the new buildings, and things that would be funded by the initiative would create economic activity that would produce tax revenue back to the state.


The second area that we looked at would be tax revenue, tax receipts, from incremental growth in the biotechnology sector, which would come potentially as a result of Proposition 71.


The third area we looked at would be savings from reductions in health care costs that are paid for by Californians or by the state government as a result of potential therapies that could be developed.


And the fourth area of potential revenue would be royalties and other licensing revenues that would come to the state if there were to be successful therapies developed under Proposition 71.


We would note that these four areas of potential benefits are only four areas.  There are probably more.  Folks who think about this a lot could think about even other ones that we haven’t come up with and we haven’t modeled.  We are aware of several others, in fact, that we haven’t looked into.  For example, pay back revenues where the institute would be authorized by Proposition 71 to make loans.  Those could produce, pay back, additional revenues.


And we go nowhere near quantifying the potential benefits for Californians in the forms of longer lives, happier lives, for patients, for families, for society in general.  Those are hard things to quantify economically, but they’re very real, and they could in fact produce aggregate benefits that would even exceed the economic benefits that we talk about here.


In terms of the cost that the bond measure would produce for the state, we built an economic model that looks at the time period of issuance of the bond.  We spent a lot of time talking to folks in the bond market, looking at current bond conditions.


Our overall estimate is that the 35-year cost to the state would be about $5.4 billion.  This is a little bit lower than the $6 billion that we just talked about, but in the same general range.


The reason we’re a little bit lower is that we account for the fact that the bond measure actually doesn’t issue long-term debt right away but issues short-term debt for several years, which typically runs at an interest rate that’s much lower.  And we also account for the fact that the bonds are not all issued in the first year and paid off over 35 years, but are rather issued slowly over about a 14 or 15 year period, which reduces the payback time and tends to reduce the amount of money that’s required to pay back the bonds. 


So, we come in a bit lower with those kinds of modeling assumptions.


Looking at the potential for tax revenues from initiative funding, essentially the idea that we’re working with here is that when the initiative would fund new research projects, when the initiative would fund new facilities, there would be new jobs created, there would be new buildings built.  If you work this through the economic models that we’ve built, which use economic multipliers like those used by the Treasurer’s Office and other state entities, which use tax data from the state and so on, we can come up with estimates of the new tax revenue that would come back into the state as a result of that new economic activity.


Our estimates of that over the course of the entire 35 years are about $240 million over the course of the 35 years.


We would note that much of that occurs in the first 5 years of the bond initiative.  A provision of the bonds during the first 5 years is that they would not be paid, there would not be principal payback; there would be accrued interest during that time period.


We find it interesting to note that the tax revenue that we estimate during the first 5 years exceeds the costs to the state of the bonds during that period, so that there would be no net impact, certainly no negative impact, on the state during the initial 5-year period.


The second area of potential revenue we looked at is new biotechnology activity.  California already has a large and very successful biotechnology industry.  It’s plausible that Proposition 71 could make this stronger, could provide stronger political stability, could provide new activity that would help encourage the growth of the biotechnology industry.


Were this to happen, there could be new jobs.  There could be new buildings.  There would be new economic activity generally that would produce tax revenue back to the state.


Again, we built an economic model of this.  We’re using state tax data, income distributions, and things like that, economic multipliers from common economic models.  When we do that, we come up with one scenario in which the biotechnology sector is increased in size by 2-1/2 percent, a relatively modest amount given the conversations we’ve had with folks in the sector, who often tell us numbers 10 times that.  But we’ve modeled a 2-1/2 percent increase.  If we do that, we would estimate that the state would see new economic revenues on the order of $2.2 billion over the course of the 35 years.


If we model a slightly larger increase of 5 percent, this state would see revenues of about $4.4 billion over the course of the 35 years.


The third area that we looked at was the potential for health care cost savings.  Clearly, if stem cell research were to be successful, there could be new therapies for diseases.  The spending under the initiative could accelerate the time period within which these could be achieved.  And if they were to be achieved, they could result in reductions in health care spending.  Some of this would accrue to Californians who pay health insurance premiums, or who pay out of pocket costs; some of this would accrue to the state budget which pays for Medicaid expenditures for costs for state employees and for other health programs.


Modeling this exactly is difficult.  It’s hard in some sense to put a structure around a very huge potential here.


What we did to try to get a handle on this and to present some numbers that we hope would be instructive is to look at six conditions.  They are:  Type 1 diabetes; heart attack; stroke; Parkinson’s Disease; spinal cord injury; and Alzheimer’s Disease.  These are six of as many as 70 conditions that people would suggest to us could be affected.  We chose to look at these six because they’re commonly discussed and we could get good data on them.


We look at three kinds of costs.  We look at direct medical costs; we look at some lost work time costs; and we look at nursing home costs for these.  


We would note also that we would not claim that these are all of the costs associated with these conditions.  There are, for example, costs to caregivers and family members, and general productivity costs to society that are part of these conditions, too, that we don’t look at.


We also don’t attempt to quantify here Medicare costs instead of the federal government program, but that is a significant burden for many, or the elderly in general.  And Californians face significant burdens from health care costs.  

And so, those are not modeled in here.


We look at some modest savings scenarios from these conditions and these costs.  The first one we look at, the base scenario, is a one percent reduction in health care spending for these six conditions, starting somewhere between the years 5 and 15, so not starting immediately, but allowing some time for therapies to be developed, and running out through year 35.



The second scenario we modeled was a 2 percent reduction, and the third scenario we modeled was a 10 percent reduction.  We think these are the kinds of reductions that could be seen in health care costs far short of new cures for the conditions, but simply with new therapies that would reduce the problems associated with conditions, with the symptoms, or that could delay the onset of symptoms for a period of time for folks who might otherwise get them earlier.


When we do that modeling, at the end of the day the total savings we would project under those scenarios for the state budget for those six conditions from the costs we measure would be 3.4 billion for a 1 percent reduction; 6.9 billion for a 2 percent reduction; and 34 billion for a 10 percent reduction.


The final area we looked at was royalty revenues.  Proposition 71 of course includes some provisions for the state to share ownership of intellectual property.  That could produce licensing revenues, royalty revenues.


We, again, put some scenarios together to try to illustrate the potential economic benefits.  One of the scenarios that we looked at modeled that the state could receive revenues from three to four therapies with patent lifetimes that are effective of about 7 years.  Patents run longer than that, but their effective life is often reduced.  And we used revenue projections based on current biotech therapies, with the state receiving a 2 percent royalty rate, which is below.  It’s about half of what the average university receives.


We also modeled the 4 percent royalty rate, which is about equal to the average.


When we modeled the 2 percent royalty rate, we see the state receiving about $530 million over the course of the 35 years.  If we modeled 4 percent, we’d see $1 billion in receipts over the 35 years.


So, putting that all together, and just quickly to try to summarize and wrap up the main points, when we put that all together, we built one simple base case, which is our lowest set of estimates from each of those four areas.  So, a 2-1/2 percent increase, small increase in the size of the biotechnology sector, a 1 percent reduction in health care spending, a 2 percent royalty rate for the state on three to four new therapies.  In that scenario, the state receives benefits over the 35-year life of the initiative of $6.4 billion.  So, in excess of the $5.4 billion cost, we estimate to repay in excess of the $6 billion cost that other folks have suggested it might cost to repay.  That in our base lowest scenario.


When we increase that a little bit, when we look at 5 percent biotech increases, 2 percent health care cost savings, 4 percent royalty rates, then we take that together, we get into $12 billion in receipts for the state, about twice or more than twice the cost of paying back the initiative.


And when we go to our 10 percent health care cost savings estimates, we end up around $40 billion for the state.


These, by the way, completely ignore benefits that could accrue to Californians in the form of lower health care premiums, in the form of lower out of pocket spending.  When we estimate those, in even our base case those are $9 billion.  In our more aggressive 10 percent reduction case, those are $90-92 billion for Californians in general.


So, the net conclusion is that there is some uncertainty here.  We’re not always sure exactly what’s going to happen.  But even conservative, even small successes for stem cell research could pay large dividends, could pay large returns to the state budget.  It doesn’t take much to cover 5.4 billion or $6 billion in costs to the state when you start looking at the different potential sources of revenue.


Modest successes that are beyond our base case, of course, go much beyond that.  And there are many costs that we didn’t even start to consider here.


So, I’ll wrap it up with that.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you so much.  I did hear your presentation outside, and I appreciate it.  Hopefully there’s enough copies for the public to review.


You raised many of the points that I was saying we should get the LAO and the Treasurer to look at, and I appreciate you at least providing us with the framework for potential economic benefits.


Hopefully we’ll have the ability if the measure’s enacted to measure those over time and sort of assess kind of whether or not we indeed did the right thing.


So, thank you so much for your presentation.



DR. BAKER:  You’re welcome.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  I don’t have specific questions, thank you.


Let’s ask David, good to see you, welcome.  Mr. David Gollaher, who is the President of the California Healthcare Institute.  We look forward to your presentation.



DR. GOLLAHER:  Thank you very much, Madame Chairwoman.


CHI has been working on stem cell legislation really since the inception of your legislation, going back several years now.  Our board unanimously voted in January of this year to support the legislation of the ballot initiative that would become Prop. 71.


CHI, the acronym by which the California Healthcare Institute is usually known, includes about 260 companies and academic institutions who share one common goal, and that’s the goal of advancing biomedical research in order to improve human health.


Every year or so CHI, working with Price Waterhouse Coopers, produces a report on the scope and the scale of the biomedical industry in California.  I have a copy of that report here.  I also have copies of my testimony for the Sergeant.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:   Great, we appreciate it.



DR. GOLLAHER:  That’s easily accessible at CHI.org on the web.  We have a PDF of the full report.


But I want to make a couple of comments about what’s in the report, because it relates to something that my friend, Larry Goldstein, and others have said earlier about the relationship between Prop. 71 and the biotechnology industry that currently exists in California.


Right now, today, there are about 230,000 Californians employed in some sector of health care technology.  And those include scientists working in laboratories at UCSD and staff, or architects who are designing new facilities, managers, sales people.  It takes a huge nation of workers to produce, to invent, and to distribute drugs.


Our industry in the year 2003 accounted for about $32 billion in global revenues, and invested more than $15 billion in R&D.  Those are very large numbers.


Why this is important for Prop. 71 is that California has already built, over the past 25 years, a vast, complex infrastructure that includes basic science, venture capital, commercial development in marketing companies, and all the supporting casts essential to transforming advanced scientific discoveries into products that can help patients.  An idea in a laboratory is not nearly enough, and the fruits of successful experiments in places like UC Irvine or the Burnham Institute aren’t nearly enough to develop a product through the Food and Drug Administration to become available to patients around the world.  And that’s an important thing to remember in this conversation.


So, the infrastructure and all its richness and diversity that we’ve built here over the past 25 years is the reason that California today is the global leader in biotechnology.  In fact, California has about 40 percent of all the biotech jobs in the United States, and accounts for about 45 percent of all the product revenues and investment in biotechnology in the U.S.  


And that provides a phenomenal platform for embryonic stem cell research.  It means that adding the capability of doing robust stem cell research into California can have great leverage because no other state, no other nation in the world, has the people and the experience and the resources to be able to capitalize on this new science.


I believe, as Larry, as Hans, and others have said, that you can draw a parallel between the birth and development of the biotech industry, whose genesis was in the Bay Area back in the early, mid 1970s.  And you can draw an analogy between that and stem cell research.


Because in the early 1970s, gene splicing and genetic engineering were novel ideas, and to many people they were frightening.  In fact, it’s quite interesting to go back and read the speeches, read the articles in places like Time Magazine about the controversy over genetic engineering that seemed so frightening at the time and seems relatively familiar now.


As it turned out, scientists like Paul Burgen of Weissman Match and Singer were able to agree on strict guidelines for this new research, guidelines that were adopted by the National Institutes of Health.  And the NIH in turn provided robust funding for research involving recombinant DNA.  


The first company founded on the concept of using genetic engineering to make a business was Genentech, now one of the world’s largest biotech firms.  And soon after, others like Chryron and Amgen followed, so that by 1980, there was a surge of private investment capital flowing into the new biotechnology industry, an industry now that is literally hundreds of billions of dollars and has dozens and dozens of products distributed around the world.



So in history, in historical perspective, the model became clear.  Begin with publicly funded basic science in world-class academic institutions.  Then provide opportunities for inventions that emerge from that science to be transferred to private companies for commercial development.


Congress passed the Bayh-Dole Act to facilitate this model of technology transfer so that universities and university researchers could benefit from their basic research, recognizing that universities by themselves would never have the expertise nor the enormous amounts of capital required to development new drugs and bring them to market.


This year, the Florida State Legislature just several months ago voted to spend $500 million to enable the La Jolla-based Scripps Research Institute to locate a second campus in West Palm Beach.  The rationale articulated by Governor Jeb Bush was that only known way to stimulate bioscience growth was to invest in basic research.  Scripps had a track record of spinning off startup companies from its basic research, and the Legislature accepted the argument that what happened in California could be cloned and grown in Florida.


In our state, we already have an embarrassment of scientific riches:  UC, Stanford, Caltech, Salk, Burnham, Scripps.  The list is the envy of the world.


What’s needed is to enable scientists in these institutions to work on the most promising field in human life sciences, and to use the system we already have to fuel the next revolution in biomedical innovation.


Thank you.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you so much, David.


Please let me ask you a couple of questions because I think they’re really important.


We’re going to hear next from the opposition, and then we’ll have public comments.  I just want to make sure that we provide adequate time for the opposition as well as the general public comment.


But let me ask you to respond to one of the arguments that’s been raised against stem cell research.  Many have argued that if it’s so attractive, then the private investment will simply come forward.  That we ought to let that be the source of funding stem cell research in light of the federal prohibition on federal dollars.


What are your thoughts on that, that spontaneous response by the private sector absent public funding, like the bond measure in California?



DR. GOLLAHER:  I guess my answer is that we’ve done the experiment, and we know at what level private investment is willing to take risk, and we know at what level it’s essential for governments to fund basic research.


Private venture capital, private investment from corporations, will only enter a market when there’s a prospect of a reasonable return.  


The truth is that stem cell research, as recombinant DNA in the early 1970s, is at a comparatively early stage, that the prospects for commercial products are fairly diminimus.  There are several, but they’re fairly scant until the research is developed better.


I think Hans made the point earlier that because of the restrictions on funding this research from the NIH, which is typically the engine that drives the basic research, few young researchers carve this out as a field that they want to stick their careers on.  And unless government steps up its funding, whether the State of California government or the federal government, to an adequate threshold, the science can’t get far enough along that risk-wary investors are willing to fund.  It’s not going to happen without governments providing basic funding.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Let me ask another question, and hopefully these figures are correct, or you’re at least familiar with them so you can respond to them.


Tommy Thompson has made a statement indicating that under the President’s guidelines, $25 million has been made available for embryonic stem cell research.  And that in 2003, the NIH funded 190 million in adult stem cell research.


Are these significant investments in stem cell research in your opinion?



DR. GOLLAHER:  Let’s put it into perspective.


In round numbers, the NIH budget this year is around $26 billion.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  26 billion.



DR. GOLLAHER:  $26 billion.  So a $25 million investment in that context is not significant.  $130 million devoted to adult stem cell research may be of interest; however, I think you would have near unanimity among the best scientists in the field, starting with people like Paul Berg and Irv Weissman, the gentlemen at the table, that that’s not the most promising area, and it’s not where you’d put your next dollar of investment if you were looking to fund the most promising research.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you for that.


I’m puzzled.  I read a report that the Pentagon actually funded embryonic stem cell research for nerve gas, response to nerve gas, but they funded Sweden or another country. 


Are you familiar with that?



DR. GOLLAHER:  I’m not, sorry.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  It was an article that showed that we indeed saw some federal dollars going to embryonic stem cell research, but they were awarded to Sweden or Switzerland.



DR. GOLLAHER:  But the comment has been made several times, and deserves to be repeated, that this science is well enough characterized at this time that it will happen; it will go forward.


Now, it may go forward more quickly if we can use the leverage of what we’ve created in California.  It may go forward more slowly in England, where it’s legal, or in other places like China or India, that have growing biotechnology industries and are interested in pursuing these areas.


Nonetheless, it will happen.  The question is:  to what degree California and the United States will participate and be at the forefront, of whether we will be in the position that Europe is now in versus biotechnology, because, if you recall, Europe was very wary of genetic engineering, and only way too late started to develop their indigenous industries.  By that time, California and the United States had developed a tremendous lead which we still retain.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Let me ask, and I think this is an important point.


My understanding is, can you share with the Committee and the public the other countries, like Japan?  What other countries have invested public dollars in embryonic stem cell research?  I believe Japan has invested quite a bit, and maybe you can go through them.



DR. GOLLAHER:  I won’t go through a list, but it’s interesting conceptually to take two examples.


One is the UK, where Parliament, after rigorous debate, particularly about the ethical issues surrounding this field of science, specifically endorsed and made legal embryonic stem cell research, subject to strict guidelines similar to what’s in Prop. 71, and with the clear intent in law to prohibit human cloning to make a baby, also like Prop. 71.


Interestingly, one of UCSF’s preeminent researchers in this field moved his whole laboratory to England to be able to pursue that research after Parliament passed that law.  And there’s a lot of interest in England in providing public funding for this research.


The government of Singapore, which has a 10-year strategic plan to grow its own indigenous biotech industry and is competing globally very aggressively to lure California and U.S. biotechs to do some of their work, some of their R&D, there, is in its promotional materials and in its private conversations talking about making significant investments in embryonic stem cell research that would be publicly funded in Singapore, particularly given that that work is more or less outlawed here.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  And what’s your sense of the change or what the status is in Congress of a bipartisan effort to, as was attempted in the last two years, to criminalize stem cell research and basically incarcerate people who go to another country and receive the benefits of the therapy?


What is the political wisdom of what is occurring in Congress now?



DR. GOLLAHER:  Congress couldn’t pass a bill last year.  It won’t pass a bill this year.


After the election, it’s a completely open question.  We don’t know who’ll be President; we don’t know who will control the Senate.  It’s completely up for grabs.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  I think it’s fair to say that from the time we began working together, two years ago, prior to the enactment of California’s authorizing legislation that I authored, as we were working against clock on the Brownback-Weldon proposals, that it appears to be a leveling out at least, and there’s more bipartisan acquiescence or acknowledgement that we ought not to criminalize.  We have Arlen Spector, who is opposed to criminalization, as well as Warren Hatch.


My hope is that there’s some –-



DR. GOLLAHER:  There was some interesting testimony on the floor of the Senate not long ago in which one proposed -- thought experiment, which is this: imagine a treatment for Parkinson’s were developed in Cambridge, England, and that that treatment were available, and imagine that your child was diagnosed with Parkinson’s, and the Brownback-Weldon legislation are banned in the United States so that it was illegal here.  What would you do?


And it would be hard, I think, for most of us, even if we had reservations, if there were an available therapy for a terrible disease and it involved something that were outlawed here, not to seek that out.  I think people, the more they think about their own personal circumstances, what they’d do for themselves and their families, understand that this is an area of science that, if it can produce the benefits that we hope it can, needs to be pursued.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  The right thing to do.


Thank you so much for your presentation.



DR. GOLLAHER:  Thank you, Senator.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  I appreciate that.  Stick around in case there’s any other questions from others as they come forward.


We are now at the last part of the agenda prior to public testimony.  This is the area of the agenda reserved for the opposition.  We have three witnesses who will speak against the proposal.


Let’s have Mr. Vincent Fortanasce, and you’ll have to identify yourself, clarify your name that I probably mangled well, and Diane Beeson, as well as Stephen Sprague come forward.



DR. FORTANASCE:  May I give you one of these.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Give it to the Sergeant, and he’ll hand that out, thank you.



DR. FORTANASCE:  Thank you very much for allowing us to be here.


I am President of No on 71, and I’d like to just introduce who I am.


I’m Dr. Vincent Fortanasce.  I am a father; I’m a physician.  I’m a neurologist.


I participated in the early studies on Parkinsonism and fetal cell implant.


I have a grave concern for people who have medical diseases.  I see them every night in the emergency rooms.  I see them every day.


And people like darling Greg, you know, my heart really goes out to you, I guess especially Greg, because my father had Parkinsonism, my uncle had Parkinsonism, and there’s approximately a 20 percent chance I will have Parkinsonism.


So, I am here not as a person who’s against stem cell research.  I am very, very, very much for stem cell research.


And I’m hoping that you, Senator Ortiz, will actually back my bill, because I have concern for the people of California.  However, I have other concerns.  I have concerns for the people who cannot find an emergency room because it’s been closed.  Cannot find a trauma center because they’re being closed.


And as you know, several mental health and health care facilities, county facilities, have been closed because of budgetary cuts.


I would like everybody to think of certain questions and one of the concerns that I really have.  As I mentioned, I am against Proposition 71, and you may ask why, if I am for stem cell research?


And the reason for it is that it is medically too dangerous as has been proposed here today.  It is physically irresponsible, and definitely irresponsible to people like yourself, Senator Ortiz, who must represent and make decisions for the Californians, because this is a constitutional amendment.


I would like to ask, and everyone think, of these questions.  First, why is this bill funding cloning, something that no one has mentioned yet?  This is a cloning bill.


Second, why are they doing research and giving the majority of the money, if not all, to embryonic stem cell research which has been proven to be ineffective and has had zero success in humans?  That is all the successes that you have heard.  None of them have been due to embryonic stem cell research and cloning.  They have all been due to adult stem cell research.  Over 300,000 cures already.  Does anyone realize that this bill will give the majority of money not to the research that will help you, Greg, or you, Don, but the research that is completely speculative, that has been proven to cause tumors?


Do you know how they prove that a cell –- Geron Corporation proved that its cell is an embryonic cell?  By injecting subcutaneous and seeing if it causes a keratome, the most malignant of all tumors.


Do you realize that this bill may actually be the reason why it will crush stem cell research?  Everyone is aware of our legal status here in California.  In fact, what happened to the Dow Corporation when a therapy was put in place which animal experiments showed that would cause immunological response?


Well, in this case, an embryo is not only it’s cause, and please look at the data that I have, it will not only cause tumors in the rat that it was injected for Parkinsonism in 20 percent of them, but it has caused rejection in almost all cases. 


And when you add cloning, why they’re adding cloning –- I know why, and I will go through that.  But when you add cloning, it has 100 percent mutation.  Weissman, one of the proponents of this, has said 99 percent of the clones died.  The 1 percent that lived are mutants, and often the mother dies with them.


Let me start on the first case.  This is a clone.  This is what I would call is a misnomer of the bill.  It is not a stem cell research and curative act, because it will cause more dangers, more disease possibly than it cures.  And I believe this very, very sincerely because I treat patients.  I want some help.  I want some help now.  I don’t want something speculative about 5 or 10 years off.


I was told, Mr. Gollaher, that the venture capitalists recognize that this is speculative and may never come to fruition.  Whereas, adult stem cell research has been proven to be effective, and will receive, according to this bill, minimal amount of funding.


Let me go on to the cloning part.  This is what we would call a clone-and-kill bill; all right?  I know it sounds a little bit outrageous, but that is exactly what it does.


Just last week, I was told by Mr. Burnham that he would never fund, he would never have his institute fund cloning.  And he turned to me and he says, “This man, Dr. Fortanasce, is lying.  This is not a clone bill.”


I want you to listen to this.  The authors of Proposition 71 systematically and repeatedly tried to hide that their bill will fund cloning.  Did you hear that today?  No, you haven’t.  Because they know 88 percent of the Californians are against the projection of human clones for scientific experimentation.


Proposition 71 promotes cloning despite, the emphasis it will not fund reproductive cloning.  A clone is a clone is a clone.  Once you learn how to produce a clone, you can do anything you want with it, even take the stem cells as these great scientists, who I really do admire, will do, or produce a full human being.  It may be outlawed here in California, but it is not going to be outlawed in many places in the world.


In fact, Proposition 71 states that 40 potent cells, their definition, may be derived from somatic cell nuclear transfer, Section 4.  This is, by the way, the definition of cloning.  


They don’t mention that this is a cloning bill, and this is one way that they’ve been deceitful in these because they don’t want people to know because they know that they would be rejected.  They will conjure up ideas of Frankenstein and other types of mad scientists.  They don’t want people to think of that, but that is what –-



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Mr. Fortanasce, could I ask you to address the Committee.



DR. FORTANASCE:  Oh, I’m sorry.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  That’s the appropriate venue, thank you.



DR. FORTANASCE:  Second, fact, the National Academy of Science, Chaired by Irving Weissman, states that somatic cell nuclear transfer, just the words that are in Proposition 71, is the method used to initiate the reproductive cloning procedure.  Get that, the reproductive cloning procedure.  And there’s the quote from the National Academy of Science.


Third, California’s Superior Court Judge Gail Ohanesian even affirmed that Proposition 71 will fund cloning research, quotation marks, “somatic cell nuclear transfer.”  


There is no doubt.  Mr. Burnham, please, I hope that Larry, who is standing right next to him, Larry Goldstein who is standing right next to him, I asked him to correct him, and he would not.


Third, Leon Task, the Chairman of the National Bioethics Committee, even chastised Stanford University for using the stems from somatic cell nuclear transfer to hide the fact it is engaged in cloning research.  He just says, call it what it is.


I say, why have the people in 71 not called it what it is, and deliberately tried to make people think, and as has been done several times here, that they’re not going to be doing cloning at all?


Listen to this, and this, I think, is one of the most chilling parts for me as a physician.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Mr. Fortanasce, address the Committee.



DR. FORTANASCE:  Sorry.


To receive funding from Proposition 71, the cloned embryos or embryonic stem cells initially, initially, must be extracted from the embryo within 12 days.  This is Section 125281.06.6.


Initially means that the timeline might be extended way beyond 12 days, even to 9 months.


Since Proposition 71 will be funded primarily with embryonic stem cells from clones and in vitro fertilization clinics, it will lead to the commercialization of embryo production that may be a danger to women who will be exploited to produce them possibly.  And this is really, that comes from several other quotes I have, but let me move on.


Proposition 71 will fund primarily speculative research that has not been proven as adult stem cell research.  It will give the majority if not all the $3 billion to embryonic stem cell and cloning research.  Listen to this.  This is from the bill.  The bill states:



“Purpose and intent: Maximize the use



of research focused on pluripotent cells …”

Remember the definition of pluripotent cells?  Somatic cell nuclear transfer.



“… that cannot or unlikely to receive



timely and sufficient fertile funding.”

Down on B:



“A high priority will be placed on



funding pluripotent cells …”

This is from another section of the bill,



“… and progenitor cells that cannot



or unlikely to receive timely and



sufficient fertile federal funding.”

And then listen to this.  This is where the real, the real meat of it is.



“In this regard, other research



funded by the National Institutes



of Health shall not be funded by



the Institute.”

That means adult stem cells.  Adult stem cells which have produced cures now, which venture capitalists are willing to put money into, will not be funded or minimally funded by this bill.


And venture capitalists, which will not give money to embryonic stem cell research, because they realize this may be 5, 10, and when it comes to cloning, it may never occur.  Yet they want -- the biotech industry has a great solution for this.  They want the taxpayer to pay for it.


And I have sat here, listening to the fact that this may pay for itself.  Well, the venture capitalists don’t think so.


We say it’s medically too dangerous, and we talked about that it produces tumors.  It produces rejection.  It produces mutations.


Do you realize in our medical field that any type of experimentation that has produced these type of tumors, which Hans himself admits occur if put into spinal cords, will produce tumors.  What is going to happen is what happened to Dow Corporation.  This, and this will cause medical-legal lawsuits, and you know according to this bill who will foot that medical-legal expense?  It will be the taxpayer.  


It says in this bill the institute can be sued and can sue.  And so, it will be us, and the money made, $350 million per year every year, may in fact be going towards paying off legal fees.


Finally, we’re going into governance.  And I find when I had mentioned it’s not responsible to the people of California, and this, Senator Ortiz, please, because I don’t want a year or two, three, four years from now, people come to you and they say, “Why did you support this bill?”


This is a constitutional amendment that will set up a parallel government, almost immune from the implements of the Governor and the Legislature, which are elected by the people to make decisions on where you money goes.  This is one of the reasons why our bill, which we will be presenting next year, will be responsible to the people who have been elected by the people.  And when they come to you and they say, “Well, why are our ERs closing?  Why is my son, when I sent him to a trauma center, is not being present?”


Two days ago I had a patient exactly that way in San Bernardino County.  They went to the emergency room; it was closed.  They found out that the trauma center had also been closed that year because of lack of funding.  It took them eight hours to be flown back to Los Angeles to get help, and it was too late.


That is helping people now.  This will make a parallel governance, which will get up to $350 million a year, when we have been cutting funds already.  We have cut costs.  There are three county hospitals that have closed.  There are numerous, if you looked in the L.A. Times, numerous emergency rooms that have closed in Los Angeles because of lack of funding.


And this will put us in debt for another 25 years.  Up to, what I heard today, up to $200 million a year will be added to the deficit.


Proposition 71 is a constitutional amendment making it virtually impossible to change.  In fact, one of the main reasons the San Diego Chamber of Commerce almost voted unanimously to uniformly oppose our proposition is because it’s a constitutional amendment.  It will require a 70 percent vote of both houses to change any proposition or provision on the bill.


Michael Hiltzik, in his column from L.A. Times, which is anything but, you know, is usually a conservative paper in the sense of wanting things for people and really looking out for the people, one of the reasons why I like it, is that presumably what this group, that is Yes on 71, feared by making this –- by the way, he’s talking about a constitutional amendment –- was the cumbersome process by which elected representatives, as you, Senator Ortiz, decide whether a $3 billion in state debt capacity should all go to stem cell research, and that is embryonic and cloning research, or to avoid a biomedical research program, or even to things like school room renovations, and I state to emergency rooms.  To health clinics.  To feed the indigent.  To feed the people who come from Mexico, the poor of our society who are going to be coming to you.  


There are 7 million Medi-Cal patients.  There are 7 million Medicare patients.  And words they don’t ask you, “Why can’t we get $350 million for 10 years?  Why can’t we have an institution that will determine where the money will go?”


Proposition 71 would give unprecedented funding to one narrow, narrow field of research.  Listen to this if you want to understand the immensity of this bill.


In 10 years, it’s going to dwarf the California Breast Center Research Program, which is the most funded program in all the United States, which have received a comparatively paltry sum of $150 million since 1994.


While drastic cuts to the heath care were avoided this year, some county hospitals we know are going to close.  I feel it as a physician, a physician who deals with these patients.  It is really outrageous that Medi-Cal, and Medicare, and trauma centers, and county hospitals will be forced to close and suffer severe cuts in order to pay for what I have told you is cloning, and a speculative type of embryonic stem cell research which venture capitalists will not invest in themselves.


Despite Proposition 71 proponents’ claim, any potential patient revenues will most likely cover this enormous bill, and this is a quote once again from the L.A. Times, they say they are confident that millions of dollars will roll into the state coffers from patient [sic] royalties.  But that’s highly conjectural.


UC royalties, that’s the University of California, all of them, medical schools, everyone, revenues in 2003 from its entire portfolio, over 900 patents, came to $67 million.  That’s far below the 200 million that are going to be needed.


California stem cell research thinks that it has clear checks and balances, but in fact will set up, as I stated, a parallel government.  And even though you, Senator Ortiz, may feel that something is wrong and people are asking you to do something, you will be powerless to do something about it unless you can convince 70 percent of the Senate and 70 percent of the Assembly to do something about it.  And I don’t know when the last time that’s ever been done.


It also creates an Independent Citizen Overview Committee, which is really, when you really look at it, and you find out that who are the people on this Independent Citizen’s Overview Committee?  Well, they have to be -– come from places that have done $100 million of scientific work and research.  Pray tell, who could they be?


And, when it determines to where the money is going to go, read this, it’s C on the next to the last page, under 3, only 15 scientists and members of the scientific medical research working group shall score grant, and loan grant applications for scientific merit.  The 7 advocacy group people will not be included in that.


So, it is that the hen is in control of the chicken coop.


Proposition 71 may ultimately make the California Constitution unworkable and California physically [sic] insolvent for the next 25 years.  Let me tell you why, and this is the main reason that there was opposition by the Chamber of Commerce here in California.


This, Senator Ortiz, and I know you are well meaning.  I know you have the heart of the people.  There’s no doubt.  I have followed you through the years.  And you’re a good person, but please listen to this.


It sets up a precedent that today it is for these special interest scientists in embryonic and cloning research to set up $3 billion, which will put us $200 million a year after the fifth year, every year for 25 years, listen to this.  Next year the people with AIDS are going to come to you and ask you that they want $3 billion in a constitutional amendment.


The people with breast cancer, who I tremendously have empathy for -- the people with breast cancer, who I tremendously have empathy for because I have several members of my family who have had this, who’ve only been given $150 million in 10 years, are going to come to you, and they’re going to say, “Gee, you’re giving 20 times more to this speculative research.”



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Mr. Fortanasce, let me just let you know, you were advised that you had 5 to 10 minutes.



DR. FORTANASCE:  Oh, I didn’t know that.
 I’m very, very sorry.




CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  We’re now at 21 minutes.  I’m going to ask you to conclude.



DR. FORTANASCE:  All right.  I’ll jump to my conclusion.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  We have three other opposition witnesses.



DR. FORTANASCE:  Sure, I’m very, very sorry.  Thank you.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Please wrap up so we can get to them.



DR. FORTANASCE:  All right.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  We are going to be out of here in one hour.



DR. FORTANASCE:  And then, of course, there will be those with prostate cancer, et cetera.


To end, this is the wrong bill at the wrong time.  We, No on Proposition 71, truly care about the people of California.  With the aid of two California Senators, we are currently drafting an alternative bill for next year.


When you scientists, Hans, Snyder, one of my –- I love you, by the way; you’re a great man.  All right, and I love what you’ve done for medicine.


It would, our bill, mandate that the research is responsible to the Legislature and the Governor and the people of California, to you, Senator Ortiz.  It would be responsible to you.


Second, favor adult stem cell research, which has produced over 300,000 cures and has much more potential than embryonic stem cell research.


And it would ban cloning.


Proposition 71 will not make California the Mecca of stem cell research.  Instead, it’ll make it the Mecca of cloning and irresponsible medicine, and may cripple our Constitution and keep us in budgetary crisis for 25 years.


Thank you, thank you, thank you.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  We have two other witnesses in opposition.  You all, unfortunately, are not going to each be able to have 23 minutes, as the first speaker did.


We have about 20 people who are signed up under Public Comment.  Some are support; some are opposition. 


Unfortunately, I have a flight to go back to Sacramento, so we will be out of here in one hour.  And I apologize that you’re not given more time.


I’m going to hold off on my comments to the previous speaker until my closing in order to allow you some time.


You may introduce yourself to the Committee.



DR. BEESON:  Good morning, Senator Ortiz and legislative staff members.  Thank you for providing a few minutes for a critical perspective on Proposition 71.


My name is Diane Beeson.  I’m a medical sociologist and Professor of Sociology at California State University, Hayward.

I received my M.A. and Ph.D. at the University of California, San Francisco Medical Center and was subsequently awarded Pugh Post-doctoral Research Fellowship at UCSF Institute for Health Policy Studies.


I’ve worked on several federally funded studies on the social implications of genetic technologies at UC Berkeley Center for the Study of Social Change, and was a visiting fellow at Stanford University’s Programming Genomics at their Center for Bioethics.


Today I represent not only myself but a growing alliance of pro-choice, progressive and liberal scholars, attorneys, and others working to defeat Proposition 71.  We support public funding of stem cell research, including embryonic stem cell research, provided it is conducted responsibly with appropriate transparency and oversight.


However, we find that Proposition 71 falls short on these and other counts.  We cannot let Bush’s irrational restrictions push us to the opposite extreme.


As a medical sociologist, I am trained to look at medical issues in their social context.  I began my research in the 1970s with the goal of understanding the processes by which genetic technologies are integrated into the lives of families living with or at risk of having serious genetic disorders.  I have worked closely with disability rights advocates and have seen exploitation of the ill and disabled take many forms over the past 30 years.  


Rarely, however, have I seen such overblown promises made in the name of science as are found in the emotional appeal by supporters of Proposition 71.  In making such exaggerated promises, they not only are exploiting the anguish of those struggling with life-threatening conditions, but are obfuscating some very difficult issues concerning how we should pursue the desire to cure in a responsible manner.


Today I’d like to address just a few of the issues that have led pro-choice critics of Prop. 71 to work against it.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Could you identify those?



DR. BEESON:  Yes.


First, risk to women’s health.  Second, unacceptable provisions for transparency, legislative oversight, and ethical standards.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  That’s the organizations?



DR. BEESON:  Oh, my organization?



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  No, the pro-choice groups that are opposed to Prop. 71, which organizations would those be?



DR. BEESON:  Well, we don’t have venture capitalist funding, our groups, so we don’t -–



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Let me just –-



DR. BEESON:  We are not organized at that level yet.  I said individuals.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  You’re going to be cut off if you don’t follow the rules of this Committee.



DR. BEESON:  Okay.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  You said “pro-choice groups.”



DR. BEESON:  Okay, good.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  I asked you to identify who those pro-choice groups are.



DR. BEESON:  Our Bodies Ourselves.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  That’s a group, an organization?



DR. BEESON:  Yes, it’s an organization.  They publish [unintelligible] collective.  It’s a bible for women who care about –-



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  I am familiar with the book, read it.



DR. BEESON:  Jane Norsigian is the Executive Director, has come out against –-



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  So the individual who wrote the book is opposed to this?



DR. BEESON:  Well, the Executive Director of the organization –-



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  I accept that, but I didn’t realize it was an organization.



DR. BEESON:  She speaks for the organization.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  I didn’t realize it was –- don’t interrupt.  This is my Committee.  You will conduct yourself.  You make statements on the record, I’m going to ask you to clarify them.


Planned Parenthood is a strong supporter of every piece of legislation I’ve ever done.  They’re a supporter of this initiative.


I just want to find out which pro-choice groups are opposed to it, because it’d be helpful.


So, Our Bodies Ourselves, the author.  Which other pro-choice groups are opposed to this?



DR. BEESON:  I don’t know at this point.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  All right, I appreciate that.


You may continue.



DR. BEESON:  All right, thank you.


Anyway, I just wanted to say that rarely have I seen such overblown promises made in the sciences that are found in these emotional appeals.  And I think that in making these exaggerated promises, that supporters are not only exploiting the anguish of those struggling with life-threatening conditions, but they’re obfuscating some very difficult issues concerning how we should pursue the desired cures in a responsible manner.


And by the way, let me say in response to your question, this has been under the radar for most people.  Before election, you will see many more pro-choice groups coming out under this.  But people were taken off guard by this.  And this is why they’re not well organized.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Let me just, for the record, I just want to let you know, every pro-choice group I’ve worked with throughout my political career, over 12 years now, have all been aware of this in the legislative process.  They’re authorizing legislation, the follow-up legislation.  They were a part of drafting the informed consent provisions that were in one of the three or four bills that I’ve passed.


So, you should know that all of the pro-choice groups that I have worked with in the Legislature have been aware of it, and in fact are part of the favorable campaign, Planned Parenthood --



DR. BEESON:  But most people haven’t studied the text of this.


We are all in support of stem cell research.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  You have to understand rules.



DR. BEESON:  You interrupt but I don’t.  Those are the rules?



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  You’re absolutely right.  If you want me to cut off your mike, I will do that.  That’s the rules of the Committee, and I’m sorry.


Just for the record, Planned Parenthood has been involved not only in the campaign, but also in all the legislative efforts.


I just want to make sure that the public doesn’t –- if you give me a pro-choice organization other than Our Bodies Ourselves that’s based in Boston, and I love the book.  I’ve read it and all the variations.  That’s important; I appreciate that.


But to suggest that there’s this groundswell of pro-choice groups that are opposed to this or don’t know what’s going on, I think, warrants a little input from the Chair, because I’ve worked with them over the years.  


I’m taking criticism from the Catholic Church’s funding Mr. Fortanasce’s efforts because of my relationship with pro-choice groups.



DR. FORTANASCE:  That is not true at all.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Okay.



DR. FORTANASCE:  That’s a misstatement.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Okay.



DR. FORTANASCE:  I am pro-choice.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  I appreciate that.



DR. FORTANASCE:  Please correct yourself.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  I’m not going to correct myself.  We know that you’re funded by the Catholic Church.


Please continue.



DR. BEESON:  Okay.


Today, if I’m not interrupted, I would like to address just a few issues.  I’ll be happy to answer questions as they come up, but I would like to be able to make a few basic points that I’m concerned about and that other pro-choice allies of mine are concerned about.


Those are:  risks to women’s health, one; unacceptable provisions for transparency, legislative oversight, and ethical standards; and finally, inadequate protection against unintended social consequences.


Now, this bill creates a constitutional right to use cloning technology to create new human embryos.  This privileging of embryo cloning, or somatic cell nuclear transfer as scientists are now calling it, this privileging of this research can be expected to generate an enormous demand for human ova which are already in short supply in many IVF clinics.  As you may know, a woman typically produces one ovum per month, and fertility drugs hyper-stimulate the ovaries to produce multiple ova, sometimes a dozen or more.


In IVF clinics, the ova that are successfully fertilized and become viable embryos may be implanted in a woman’s uterus with the goal of successful pregnancy and birth.


In the research setting, it takes many ova to produce one embryo from which embryo stem cells will be successfully harvested.  In Korea, for example, the research has required 242 ova to create one embryo that yielded a line of stem cells.


Even with improvements in technique, embryo cloning research will require thousands, and perhaps vast numbers more, of human ova.


Now, why should such massive gathering of eggs be of concern?  Prop. 71 states that the so-called Independent Citizens Oversight Committee, the body that will be set up to govern the new Institute for Regenerative Medicine, quote, “shall establish standards prohibiting compensation to research donors or participants while permitting reimbursement of expenses,” end of quote.


This so-called reimbursement of expenses has already transgressed ethical boundaries at existing IVF clinics, where payments of $5,000 to $10,000 and sometimes more, are now relatively common.


Until we stop what has already become a practice tantamount to egg buying, we should not be encouraging egg retrieval at an even more massive scale in the research setting.


These are very worrisome matters because the risks of egg extraction remain inadequately evaluated.  More careful and long-term research is needed, especially regarding the risk of luprolide acetate, Lupron, commonly used to shut down a woman’s ovaries before using super-ovulating drugs for hyper-stimulation.


As of the spring of 1999, the FDA had already received 4,228 reports of adverse drug events from women using Lupron.  Of these reports, 325 involved hospitalization, and additionally 25 deaths were reported.  Whether these deaths were deliberately attributable to Lupron remains to be determined.


And this is a communication from Jane Norsigian, again, Executive Director of Our Bodies Ourselves.


Now interestingly, when advanced cell technology conducted some limited experiments with heat in embryo cloning, their 13-page informed consent sheet included language that itemized very serious health risks, and I have a copy of that with me.


As young women in the U.S., including some of my own students, are increasingly turning to egg donation as a source of financing their educations, we must exert pressure to collect the kind of safety data that are still thoroughly lacking.  The backers of Proposition 71 are telling us that there are no risks, but this is simply not true.


Ironically, if egg donors were to suffer from the effects of these drugs, they quite possibly could find themselves without health insurance, as access to health care becomes increasingly limited with both state and federal cutbacks.


Securing millions of dollars each year for embryo stem cell research, including the constitutional right to engage in embryonic cloning, seems highly inappropriate at a time when more and more Californians cannot get basic health care, and certainly do not have any constitutional right to such health care.


Now, on these two, oversight transparency and ethics, Proposition 71 proponents claims that their proposed so-called Independent Citizens Oversight Committee will protect the public.  But the fact is that the majority of its members will be academic scientists and biotechnology representatives whose employers stand to benefit financially from the research.


It’s also well known that many advocacy groups have close ties to academic and biotech scientists, so the eight members from specific disease advocacy groups cannot be considered independent citizens.


A forthcoming article in the Hastings Center Report by attorney Deborah Greenfield points out that the regulatory body already designated by California law presents a more objective and unbiased group.  Thus, Proposition 71 would reduce protections already in place in California.


While promising that the citizens of California will benefit economically from the patents, the initiative acquiesces to the concerns of biotechnology corporations, suggesting that if a large corporation wanted to develop a therapy based on the Institute’s research, and demanded strict licenses to this research, the state could not stand in the way.  This would clearly limit the funds accrued to the state and to the public.


Compounding these concerns is the fact that decisions about patenting and intellectual property rights are likely to be made in meetings exempted from California’s Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act.  In fact, the long list of exemptions from transparency contained in the initiative makes independent oversight virtually impossible.


I’m especially concerned about these issues because I teach at a state university, one of many state institutions that have already been undermined by inadequate funding.  Unfortunately, I will not have time to address the damage to existing health and education programs that this enormous expenditure of public funds would inevitably accelerate.


Suffice it to say, taxpayers’ investments deserve better protection.


My last point is one that may be particularly difficult to convey to those without a clear understanding of the profound implications of the convergence of a number of new reproductive technologies, but it’s a crucial one.


It is said the citizens of California have a right to know that there is nothing in Proposition 71 to guarantee that the products of this research will be limited to therapies or cures, if indeed these ever emerge.  There is already a huge market in this country for all forms of physical enhancements, and some of our physicians and scientists are turning to those markets as more lucrative focuses of their talents.  Examples are clear in the extreme makeovers of cosmetic cosmetic surgery, and the widespread abuse of human growth hormone, and in the aggressive mass marketing of sex selection techniques originally developed to prevent the birth of children with severe disabilities.


There is currently no ethical or legal framework in place nationally or in California to regulate the commercial exploitation of embryo cloning for these non-therapeutic purposes.  Because somatic cell nuclear transfer technology is the gateway to these other non-therapeutic purposes, for example, the creation of made-to-order children, public debate is needed before a measure like Proposition 71 is put into effect.


Finally, we must recognize that the ban on human reproductive cloning that is included in Proposition 71 cannot possibly be meaningful in a world where many regions have not banned human reproductive cloning.  Until such a policy is universal, the development of this technology in nuclear does increase the likelihood that human reproductive cloning will be attempted.


I understand the impatience for cures, and I share it.  But even without cures, this biological revolution that we are experiencing is escalating at dizzying speed.  Before California throws billions of our scarce tax dollars at this ethically problematic research, we need a broader public dialogue about how to protect our values, our democratic social structure, and our grandchildren’s future.


Thank you.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you, Ms. Beeson.


Let me now have the final opposition witness, Mr. Stephen Sprague.


I’m going to ask you to try to limit your comments to 15 minutes.  I apologize, but it’s just that we’ve gone over a bit, and now there’s 22 people who want to speak.



MR. SPRAGUE:  Not a problem.


Thank you, Madame Chair.  I would like to thank you for the opportunity to lend a patient perspective to this meeting.


My name is Stephen Sprague, and I am probably living proof of the successful example of stem cell research.


My remarks, I hope, will be of importance to others who are in the patient community, and you are certainly considering a very ambitious plan to help all of us someday in the future with promising stem cell research, but more importantly right now, by supporting proven patient stem cell applications that are currently available.


I’m alive and before you today only because of a cord blood stem cell transplant.  Thousands of children and adults just like me are being treated with transplants from adult bone marrow and cord blood stem cells often through clinical trials, like I was.


The fact is that currently over 60 lethal, malignant, and genetic diseases like leukemia, and lymphoma, and sickle cell anemia, and thallasemia, and immune deficiencies can be successfully treated with these two powerful, natural, noncontroversial and nonembryonic stem cell alternatives.


When I first heard about the proposition from my son, who lives in Weaverville, Northern California, we were both elated, as we imagined how $3 billion in government funding could treat so many more desperate patients like I once was.  I don’t need to explain to any of you how difficult it was, seven years ago, for an only son to helplessly watch his out-of-options father preparing to die, or for a father to watch his soon-to-be-married son suffer consequences far beyond his control.


We were excited about the prospects of a comprehensive stem cell research and cures program right here in his home state, and the promising potential of widely expanding the use of cord blood and adult bone marrow stem cells through public banking and volunteer marrow-donor registries.


Unfortunately, my own excitement turned to frustration and bewilderment when I soon realized that the language in Proposition 71 would make it virtually impossible for funding to assist research with the only two sources of stem cells currently demonstrating they can cure patients.  It’s inconceivable to me, a cancer survivor, cured only because of stem cells, that this $3 billion would be exclusively allocated to embryonic stem cell research when so many patients who could very well be cured by using cord blood or adult bone marrow stem cells are still suffering and dying.


If you’ll bear with me for just a few moments, I’d like to share a little bit of my medical journey with you, and it will help put my concerns, I hope, in proper perspective and better explain why I felt compelled to come here before you today.


You probably can’t tell, but I am in fact an aging Baby 

Boomer and was already a medical veteran before I got my leukemia diagnosis 9 years ago.  I was only 47.


I’m a diabetic.  I had survived a heart attack and quadruple bypass surgery in ’93.  In spite of that, I wasn’t ready for a battle with cancer.


In November of ’95, those days chemotherapy only solved what was inevitable for long-term survival, and that was then the traditional bone marrow transplant.  CML is usually a slowly progressing manageable cancer.  I continued to seek a decent quality of life while mentally preparing for transplant, which was my only option.  For whatever reason, after only 18 months after my initial diagnosis, I found myself in the end stage of this disease.


A few months in the hospital, I got back into remission while we began what would quickly become a frustrating marrow donor search.  I soon discovered that less than a third of those seeking transplants have a matching sibling, the best and most obvious donor source.  Since I was an only child, I needed to find an unrelated matching donor if a transplant were to even be an option for me.


To make a very long and complicated story short, I was not one of the lucky ones to find an acceptable match in any of the marrow donor registries.  “Enjoy your remission.  Get your affairs in order,” they told me, “while we keep looking and try to figure something else out.”


This sad predicament is still an all too familiar one for many adult leukemians.  Even now, far too many patients referred for a primary marrow donor search are unable to actually proceed to transplant due to the complexity of antigen matching, as well as the problems inherent in tracking down and eventually collecting the matching marrow from a hopefully still willing and still available donor.


Fortunately for me, there soon came a series of events that I still find difficult to understand or describe.  As I was beginning to lose my remission, my doctor was planning to begin one of the very first clinical trials for end-stage adult CML, using stem cells obtained from umbilical cord blood.  And equally astonishing, a perfect core blood stem cell match was found for me within days from the New York Blood Center’s core blood bank.  And in life-or-death struggles like these, days certainly matter.


Incredibly, some still-anonymous New York City mother decided to do what few new mothers were doing back in those days, and that was donating their newborn’s cord blood to a public cord blood bank.  It was that donation from a newborn baby girl that happened to be my one and only match.


I entered the hospital on October 30th, 1997.  Magic and miracles happened, including a pioneering treatment using cord blood, and by the grace of God, I was discharged 40 days later, December 8th, 1977 [sic] with a new working immune system, no trace of leukemia, and no hair.


Fast forward a little bit, here I am today, almost 7 years to the date, with 100 percent donor cells, all female chromosomes because my donor was a baby girl, completely cancer-free, and in relatively good health.  Still not much hair.


So, please don’t misunderstand my concern here today.  I am understandably supportive of all forms of stem cell research.  But the fact is that not a single human life has yet to be saved from one embryonic stem cell.  Until this research is able to move from mice to men, and into practical patient applications, it would be short-sighted to direct all of these research dollars to embryonic stem cell research, while ignoring or restricting the proven viability of adult and cord blood stem cells in your legislation.


If, after 10 years of great efforts, embryonic stem cells cannot be made safe for clinical use, or don’t function as scientists hoped, the decision to deny funding to adult and cord blood stem cells would be even more tragic.


For less than 5 percent of these $3 billion proposed by Proposition 71, you could establish a California Cord blood stem cell bank network, and it would provide a varied inventory of cord blood stem cells, allowing transplants capable of treating and curing thousands of California patients who are suffering or dying from over 60 lethal diseases.  This standing inventory would also dramatically improve the ability to appropriate stem cell matches in California’s minorities who currently struggle to find viable matches, and who are significantly underserved from traditional stem cell sources.  And it would provide a resource to researchers investigating other potential uses for cord blood stem cells.


My sincere hope is that you will evaluate the facts put before you here today, and you will find a way to alter the current proposition to promise the thousands of children and adults in California, who may be suffering from a host of diseases, that they will receive the critical access they deserve to a life-saving miracle from cord blood and adult bone marrow stem cells.


In my years of post-transplant activities as a patient advocate volunteer, I’ve come to learn a lot of things about myself, about life and death, about perspectives, appreciations, and priorities.  And most importantly, I’ve learned a lot about hope.


My point is simply this.  Part of that hope for desperate patients seeking transplant, patients like I was once, involves options.  Heading down the transplant trail is a risky endeavor even in the best of circumstances.  But that critical first step can’t even be taken without first finding the right stem cell match.


As you will come to appreciate, I hope, umbilical cord blood remains a largely untapped, noncontroversial, readily available alternative source of non-embryonic stem cells.  As cord blood continues to find its way into the medical mainstream, it’s my personal hope, shared by my cancer companions, the lucky ones like me, as well as the less fortunate ones who have died searching for their elusive marrow match, that cord blood and adult stem cells receive the same interest and attention that wide-ranging of embryonic stem cells do.  It seems a fair compromise to continue to develop and not overlook therapies that have been proven to work, while hoping that the promises of embryonic research may one day become a reality.


Senator, thank you for given me that chance to share my story.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you, Mr. Sprague.


I think we have about 25 people that want to speak under Public Comment.


I appreciate your testimony because it really, I think, identifies concerns that are legitimate.


Let me say that the initiative as proposed does envision stem cell research including cord blood.  And let me just make it very clear to the public that Prop. 71 envisions potential funding for cord blood.  It specifically says “including but not limited to cord blood, adult stem cells, and/or embryonic.”


I know that a concern is that the prioritization –-



MR. SPRAGUE:  Yes.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  -- of embryonic stem cell research is a legitimate fear.  But when you understand the rationale behind that prioritization, in that you don’t have a federal prohibition against cord blood, nor do you have a federal prohibition against adult stem cell research, that mechanism of identifying that prioritization on the first path to the degree possible, types of research are not funded by federal funding, I mean, it is born of necessity.


The second provision goes on to say, “All others are entitled to funding,” and indeed, there’s a two-thirds vote requirement of the oversight body, which is problematic.  


But I would encourage the cord blood advocates, like yourself and others, to be a part of that process if indeed this passes.  And I met with cord blood proponents of a company in my district who sought to find a way to help this initiative.  So, I think it bears some explanation that it doesn’t close the door.  


And if indeed a year from now, or two years from now, the federal government does not ban embryonic stem cell research, then that first level of prioritization, I think, becomes less compelling than it is in the initiative.  But it was drafted out of necessity.  This is, indeed, driven by that policy on the federal level.  It is a reaction to that.


So, I would ask you to bear with us, and come to us, and have us be a part of that.  Please, don’t forego the opportunity to make your case to the oversight board, and call upon people like myself to be an advocate on your behalf.



MR. SPRAGUE:  I appreciate the comments, Senator.


You know, all I’m suggesting is, don’t stick all your research dollars in the embryonic basket, because there are things that are working now that you don’t want to just overlook.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  And, you know, Congressman Doolittle, who’s part of my district and has actually got federal legislation to fund the cord blood –-



MR. SPRAGUE:  Yes.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  So, we’re seeing money coming from the federal government for cord blood research.



MR. SPRAGUE:  Well, not yet, but in drips and drabs.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  But you don’t see a federal ban.



MR. SPRAGUE:  No, that’s true.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  And that’s the basket test between the state and the federal government.


And let me just say, congratulations on your success.  I have an aunt who didn’t make it, leukemia, and she died a year before my mother, who had had her second cancer.  The first one was thyroid, the second was ovarian.


You know, God bless you for going through a really difficult stem cell.  That is the height –-



MR. SPRAGUE:  Well, I was truly one of the lucky ones, Senator.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  -- physically, and thank God you found someone to match.


Thank you for being a part of this.  But continue to be a part of it.  Come to people like myself to be an advocate on your behalf.



MR. SPRAGUE:  Thank you.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you.


We had one-half an hour.  I’m going to actually, I think we’re playing with my flight to try to stay here another 45 minutes, possibly an hour, so we can get Public Comment in, both sides, support and opposition.  We have a number of people who have for weeks been a part of that.


I’m going to go by the list of the people who had registered weeks ago to speak on this.  And I’m going to ask that they come forward.  We’re going to take your name off of the sign-in list, and then have those who signed in be a part of this after that.


So let me ask Fia Richmond to come forward, and then Steven Gallegos, Jeff Larabee, and Ron Miller are the first four witnesses.  If you could come forward and try to align yourselves somewhere in the front there so we don’t lose a lot of time with the public not coming forward.


By the way, we can accommodate wheelchairs in that front row, so I’m going to ask those of you who are sitting there to try to accommodate those who are in wheelchairs.


Fia, you’re first.  Come over here, please.  Then Steven Gallegos will be second, and then Jeff Larabee.


I’m going to ask, and I know it’s going to be difficult, two to three minutes at the most, and please try to stay on time.


Welcome.



MS. RICHMOND:  Thank you.  Can you hear me?



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Yes, I can.



MS. RICHMOND:  To the Committee, Senator Ortiz, thank you for allowing us to come here today in support of Prop. 71.  This is quite a privilege, and I have so much respect and admiration for you.


My name is Fia Richmond.  With me are Pam Patterson, Natalie Patterson, Jenna Froman, and Chris Froman.


We are parents and grandparents of developmentally disabled children.


I’m also a Founder and President of Children’s Neurobiological Solutions Foundation, CNS.  CNS is a nonprofit organization that’s dedicated to accelerating medical research for pediatric brain repair and regeneration.


My nine-year-old son, Palmer, has an undiagnosed brain injury.  He cannot walk; he cannot talk; he cannot sit without help, and he needs around-the-clock assistance and care.  With no cures and no therapies available, we have and continue to experience the disappointment of limited medical options.  In many ways for us, the clinics are already closed.


Sadly, Palmer is not alone.  There are nearly 14 million children in this country with some form of neurological dysfunction that cause a range of impairments in cognition, speech, mobility, self-care, and physical health.  Some of the most common names for these developmental disabilities are:  cerebral palsy, autism, Down syndrome, and epilepsy just to name a few.  And the causes vary.  Some are genetic, while others are acquired by infections, trauma, stroke, or brain tumors, and all are devastating.  The lives of parents and grandparents and siblings are forever changed as they help their loved one struggle to attain a life that may never be normal.


And it’s a chilling reality that medical science does not currently understand the underlying causes of more than 90 percent of these devastating conditions.  Treatments are limited, and there are no known cures.


In addition to the tremendous emotional toll, there are the costs.  The estimated federal lifetime costs for disabled individuals requiring long-term care is expected to $67 billion.


In California alone, an estimated 630,000 children suffer from a developmental disability.  Each affected child creates a domino effect of costs –- special education, specialized care, and adaptive living requirements –- compounding the sorrow of seeing our children live a life of limited options.


There was a time in our history where supportive services and special education was the best we could do for our children, but fortunately this is just no longer true.  We now have an unprecedented opportunity to address the underlying causes of these disorders and in effect change people’s lives for the better.


Over the last several decades, science has made remarkable progress, leaving us poised at a new, hopeful vantage point.  There are scientific discoveries propelling us towards the possibility of advanced therapies and cures, and stem cell research provides us with the answers to so many of our questions.  And in this regard, stem cells may be considered a hologram to the human body.


The California initiative, Proposition 71, and the leaders who have tirelessly worked to bring this to the residents of California recognize that this new biology is our threshold into a society that will have the capability to repair and regenerate not only the damaged brain, but also most any organ of the human body.  This science has the potential to revolutionize the way we practice medicine and secure a future filled with possibilities for the patients who are currently suffering from disease and for future generations to come.


Like so many parents in the community, I have searched, ventured, and turned every stone, medical and therapeutic, that could possibly prove beneficial towards improving my son’s life and health.  I have followed any threat that respects the humanity of a child such as Palmer or Natalie, and that recognizes in every life the inborn qualities that strive for healing and health.


The establishment of CNS Foundation was born from frustration but nurtured by the faith of parents searching for –-



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  I’m sorry but –



MS. RICHMOND:  I’m just one sentence, thank you.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  You’re at five minutes, and everyone else has been waiting.  We may not be here long enough.



MS. RICHMOND:  Okay. 


Well, basically, I just want to say that we’re in support of Proposition 71, and I’m saying our children are counting on us, and we’re counting on you to help us move forward with stem cell research.


Thank you.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  I’m sorry.



MS. RICHMOND:  I know.  I appreciate it.  Thank you.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you to all the parents that are here, and you’ve been very good about waiting.


Let’s share your testimony with the Sergeants, and we’ll share that with the Committee Members.  The gentleman behind you will grab your written testimony.


Okay, the next speaker is Steven Gallegos.  Mr. Gallegos, will you please come forward.  After that, Jeff Larabee, and then Ron Miller.



MR. GALLEGOS:  Thank you, Senator.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Two minutes, please.



MR. GALLEGOS:  I’ll be brief.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  I apologize, but we’ve got to hear from everybody.



MR. GALLEGOS:  My name’s Steven Gallegos.  I’m the Director of Public Policy for the Alzheimer’s Association of Los Angeles, San Bernardino, and Riverside Counties.


I have some great news.  On June 12th, the Alzheimer’s Association, California Council, which is the policy making arm for all chapters of the Alzheimer’s Association in California, voted unanimously to support the stem cell initiative by passing the following resolution.


In keeping with its mission for a world without Alzheimer’s Disease, a disease which today has no cure, and to support families living with the disease, the Alzheimer’s Association California Council supports the Stem Cell Research and Cures Act initiative and joins the coalition in support of the initiative.


Alzheimer’s Association is a race against time, as baby boomers start turning 65 in 2010.  We’re facing an epidemic.  The number of people with Alzheimer’s is predicted to soar from half a million people in California today to over 790,000 by 2030.  All research avenues, including stem cell, must be preserved.


And in that light, we support this initiative and thank you for the time.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you for your hard work.  Obviously, the policy work we’re doing in the Legislature complements, I think, this effort.  I know that we’ve got a demographic threat there that’s huge, and it’s one of the major issues that maybe we can find some cure for.


So, thank you for your hard work, Mr. Gallegos.


Okay, next Jeff Larabee, and then Ron Miller, and then Katie Hansen.


You may begin.



MR. LARABEE:  Hi.  My name is Jeff Larabee.  I’m here on behalf of the American Diabetes Association.


With that said, you know which side of the line I stand on.  But did you know there are 18.2 million Americans living with diabetes?  It is the sixth leading cause of death in the United States and contributes to the death of more than 213,000 Americans each year.


Diabetes is a chronic disease, meaning that it has no cure.  It’s the number one cause of kidney failure.  It’s the number one cause of blindness in adults.  It is the number one cause of amputation.


The American Diabetes Association support stem cell research.  The American Diabetes Association is a member of the California Stem Cell Research and Cures Initiative and is in full support of Proposition 71.


The American Diabetes Association has been on the forefront of efforts aimed at increasing federal funding of diabetes research and is also funding stem cell research through its own national peer review research grant program.


The American Diabetes Association has also strongly supported legislation and legislative initiatives to promote and enhance stem cell research opportunities in California and the nation.


On a personal note, as a Type 1 diabetic, I also personally support Proposition 71.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you so much, and I know you guys have been in the forefront of this.  I thank you.  We wouldn’t have gotten here but for your association’s leadership.


Dr. Miller, welcome.



DR. MILLER:  Thank you.


I’m Ronald B. Miller, Clinical Professor of Medicine Emeritus at the University of California Irvine.  


And although a kidney doctor, I am also Director of the Program in Medical Ethics Emeritus.


I applaud the leadership of Senator Ortiz and appreciate the opportunity to address this hearing.


I was asked to speak to the ethical issues.


If the fundamental ethical question is:  What should we do?  Proposition 71 is a fundamental ethical question for society.  We have or should have three ethical goals:  morally responsible research with respect to the embryo, that is, of nascent human life, and of all sources of stem cells.


Secondly, to realize the therapeutic promise of stem cell research and therapy.


And thirdly, to make stem cell therapy available equitably to all citizens.


Good ethics begins with good facts.  Many of the essential scientific questions are only now emerging, but we have heard an enormous amount this morning about the reasons for necessary, continued research.  And with the limited federal funding, we clearly need state-supported research.


I will not go into the promises that have been touted already, but simply say with such promise, how could anybody be opposed to stem cell research and therapy?


And had I time, I would like to make clear differentiation of the ethical problems related, both to adult stem cell research and to embryonic.  But because of the very limited time, and because of the importance of embryonic stem cell research, I will simply speak briefly to that issue.


Clearly, embryonic stem cell research is scientifically currently thought to be substantially more promising than adult stem cell research and therapy.  But it is far more problematic ethically because it requires destruction of the human embryo, albeit at so early a stage that there are only 30 cells in the inner cell mass of the blastocyst, and it is that inner cell mass that would normally become the fetus.


At this stage, there is no primitive string, the origin of the nervous system.  No heartbeat; no human form.


It potentially could become a human being if it were implanted in a uterus, and if it were not spontaneously aborted,  that is, miscarried, as over 50 percent fertilized eggs are in normal reproduction.


To return to the ethical question, what should we do, we need to know the moral status of the blastocyst.  That is, what respect do we owe it?


I would say more than we owe a gamete, that is a sperm or an egg, and more than we owe lower life forms, a plant, an amoeba, an ant, a bird, a monkey, perhaps even more than a great ape.


But I would also say less moral status than a fetus, a human form with developing organs.  In other words, a much later stage in development in the uterus.  And clearly, far less than a newborn, or a one, three, or five-year-old child.


And finally, from a utilitarian or consequentialistic perspective, one can reframe the ethical question:  Can the blastocyst be sacrificed in order to improve or cure a child or an adult with one of the 70-odd conditions thought amenable to stem cell therapy?  


One way to answer the question is to ask a hypothetical.  Suppose you and your friend’s five-year-old daughter happened to visit a fertility clinic where there are a dozen early embryos being examined by the embryologist prior to cold storage.  A fire breaks out.  You can save the child or the embryos, but not both.


Harvard Professor Michael Sandal, a Professor of Government, guesses that you might save the child.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you so much for your testimony, and I do appreciate that.  I think you framed the choices well, so thank you.


Let me now ask Katie Hansen from Biocom to come forward.  We then will hear from some opposition witnesses that had pre-registered in order to give them some time.


Welcome.



MS. HANSEN:  Good afternoon, Senator Ortiz and legislative staff.


My name is Katie Hansen, and I’m a policy coordinator with Biocom.  We represent over 465 life science companies here in San Diego.


Thank you for the opportunity to address you this afternoon.


I would like to express Biocom’s support for Prop. 71 because we believe that this initiative would provide tremendous opportunity for the future growth of the life science industry, and in turn, its ability to deliver products to patients.


As you probably know, Proposition 71 would significantly benefit the San Diego economy, which is home to world-renown facilities that engage in stem cell research, such as UCSD, the Salk, and the Burnham Institute.


Stem cell research is a potential breakthrough for applications to medical technology in the 21st Century.  Stem cells hold the promise of new treatments or cures for major diseases that affect millions of people, such as diabetes, Parkinson's, and Alzheimer’s.


As a voice of San Diego’s biomedical industry and also concerned citizens about the health and economic well being of all Californians, Biocom would like to strongly endorse Proposition 71, and we’d also like to urge our fellow business leaders, not only in San Diego but California, to join us in our support of this initiative.


Thank you.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you so much for your support.


Okay, we have other witnesses that had pre-registered and who are in opposition, and I wanted to give them enough time.  We have a number of adoptive mothers, Lori Maze, Suzanne Murray, Sharon Tesdall, as well as Marie Olsen.


Let’s have Lori Maze come forward, and if the others could come forward quickly so we don’t lose time when we call you.  


Please try to keep your comments to two minutes.



MS. MAZE:  I will definitely try to do that.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  And if the others would like to come forward so we don’t lose time while you’re walking up.


Go ahead.



MS. MAZE:  Thank you very much, Madame Chair and distinguished panel members.


My name is Lori Maze.  I am the Director of the Snowflakes Frozen Embryo Adoption Program.  The Snowflakes Frozen Embryo Adoption Program is one of three adoption programs that is offered by Nightlight Christian Adoptions, a nonprofit California state-licensed adoption agency.


In 2002, Nightlight Christian Adoptions was a recipient of a federal grant from the United States Department of Health and Human Services to increase public awareness of embryo adoption and donation.  We produced a series of videos to accomplish this objective, and I do have copies for everybody on the panel.


This year we are the proud recipient of an Angel in Adoption Award.


We do not oppose stem cell research.  However, we do oppose embryonic stem cell research and Proposition 71.


Popular argument contends that this -– that the embryos which are at the heart of this legislation are excess embryos.  I think that Dr. Snyder earlier today said that the embryos were already being discarded and not helping anyone.  However, nothing could be further from the truth.


The Snowflakes Frozen Embryo Adoption Program is one of three adoption programs offered by Nightlight which allows families who have undergone in vitro fertilization and have remaining unused embryos in frozen storage to place those embryos with adoptive couples who are then able to transfer these embryos into the adoptive mother’s womb and give birth to her adopted child.


In just a few minutes, you’ll meet a couple of the faces of those embryos.


Infertility affects between 6 and 10 million couples in the United States.  According to a study that was released by the Society for Assisted Reproduction in May of 2003, it was estimated that there are 400,000 embryos frozen in storage throughout the United States; 80 percent of these embryos are slated for further use by their families, which leaves approximately 47,000 embryos.  With IVF success rates ranging between 13 and 38 percent, depending upon a woman’s age, this could be almost 3,000 to 9,000 children that could hold the hope for children in families for couples who suffer from infertility.


The Snowflake program evidences this truth, as we’ve had 62 children born so far in the 6 years of this program, and we have another 16 more who are due.  We have a 44 percent success rate.


Additionally, we have had 184 genetic families place their embryos for adoption with our adoptive couples, and there are at least 75 more genetic families who are waiting to do so.  There is no lack of couples who are willing to adopt these embryos.


No one’s heart can remain untouched by the stories of those who suffer from debilitating medical conditions and diseases.  However, killing these pre-born children is the most draconian and unlikely way to achieve that goal.  No one has ever been successfully treated through embryonic stem cell research; however, tremendous and, more importantly, tangible results are being made now with adult stem cell research.


If embryonic stem cell research truly holds the potential as the proponents claim, then the question is begged:  Why have no private funding companies poured their money into that avenue for a cure, rather than into backing this proposition, instead calling for taxpayers of a state in fiscal disarray to pay for speculative science fiction?


Moreover, there has not been a federal prohibition on embryonic stem cell research, but rather, no additional funding for any new stem cell lines.  Again, we have to ask the question:  Where do we draw the line?  Do we next start harvesting parts from children who are in utero to save others from debilitating medical conditions?  Obviously, we recoil at such a thought.


I submit that embryonic stem cell research is no different, but rather only one step earlier in the process.  


Even if all embryonic stem cell research claims were true, ultimately just because we can do something, doesn’t mean that we should.


These embryos are life.  They are, in fact, pre-born children who should have the chance to fill their potential as living, breathing human beings.


So we urge you to oppose Proposition 71, and instead, turn your efforts to greater promise inherent in stem cell research, meaning adult placental and umbilical stem cell research.


I thank you for your time.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you.


We have two adoptive mothers as well one representative from the Concerned Women for America.  Who wants to come forward:  Suzanne Murray, Sharon Tesdall.


As they’re coming forward, let me just say that there’s nothing in this provision that would preclude agreement between a donor and a designee family from doing this, so this won’t prevent the Snowflakes program from going forward.  Just so there’s no confusion.



MS. TESDALL:  First of all, yes, my name is Sharon Tesdall.  And this is my daughter, Micaela.  She is my beautiful little blessing through the Snowflakes Adoption Program.


I just want to show you her face first of all here, and then probably exit her out the side because this has been a long adult day for her.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  She’s been a very good girl today.



MS. TESDALL:  It’s on behalf of Micaela that I’m here today.  


Micaela was an embryo that was placed with my husband and myself by her genetic family, transferred into my womb, nurtured and thrived, born, and has now grown into the beautiful little girl that you just saw.


The reason that embryo adoption is an issue in Proposition 71 is that it advocates that these embryos will just be thrown away, and that’s just not true.  One of the medical diagnoses that we have not heard today, about today, is infertility.  Anyone who would trivialize my medical diagnosis of infertility had better be prepared to rate every other medical diagnosis based on severity.  You just can’t do that.  They’re all bad, because it means your body has failed you in some way.


Our federal government doesn’t rate medical diagnoses either.  It just defines in a ICD 9 code.  In other words, infertility is a valid medical diagnosis just like Parkinson’s, Alzheimer’s, and others that we’ve heard here today.


Like earlier was said, infertility affects approximately one in 10 couples of reproductive age, and I’m one of them.  For nine years, my husband and I struggled, agonized through various procedures, grieved over our childlessness, suffered as we were poked and prodded by doctors and specialists in search of a cure.  It was humiliating and dehumanizing.


My husband and I were so consumed with this, but one of the most exciting aspects of embryo adoption is that any woman can carry an embryo.  Tissue or blood matching is not necessary.  It’s my understanding that rejection is one of the major hurdles of embryo stem cell research.  Embryo adoption provides a cure for three lives:  the life of the genetic family, there is now closure for them; the life of the adoptive family, their dream of a family has become a reality; but most importantly, the life of the child, who is saved by letting a child go on to fulfill his or her gift of life.


I challenge you to tell us adoptive moms who have given birth to our children what did I add that now constitutes her as human?  To Micaela, I gave love, oxygen, nutrients, and a warm place to grow, the same requirements as the child you just saw.


We are truly a new generation of adoptive mother.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Before we have the next speaker, you do understand that nothing in the initiative precludes the Snowflake program from going forward?



MS. TESDALL:  I do understand that, but the Snowflake program will continue to go forward.


My understanding with the initiative is that it discusses stem cell research, but my understanding is that it’s embryo stem cell research.  And I am just asking you to be aware of the fact that, as proponents have said, that these embryos are just going to be thrown away anyways.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Well, many of them are.  I mean, in your case they weren’t, obviously.  And the law still allows an agreement, but not every family that donates and has achieved fertility or not achieved fertility, but then still has in vitro fertilization embryos stored, not every parent wants to agree to that.


And I think the law allows and encourages.  In fact, I did a piece of legislation that prohibits selling embryos for research.



MS. TESDALL:  Right.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  So, what I’m suggesting is, I think it’s wonderful what Snowflake has been able to achieve, but the numbers are relatively small given the potential in vitro fertilization opportunities.



MS. TESDALL:  From what I understand from the Rand Study is that of the 400,000 embryos that were recently discovered as being in frozen storage, 88 percent of those embryos are still being held by the families who plan on going back to them.  It is –



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  And that may be correct, and they cannot be discarded unless the family agrees to it, or they cannot be given away and shared with a family like yours unless the family agrees to it.


But this law doesn’t change any of that.  I think it’s important to say it’s not going to encourage more parents or donors to day, “Okay, I’m going to give it to research versus.”  If a person is inclined to do the wonderful thing like Micaela’s genetic family did for you, I don’t think that’s going to change.  I think the law doesn’t alter that.



MS. TESDALL:  I why I’m here today is to bring public awareness of an option that I don’t know if you were aware of.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Oh, I was.  Believe me, and I’ve been keenly aware of it.



MS. TESDALL:  And I know that there’s a lot that aren’t.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  And families that were products of in vitro fertilization are aware of it.  And not everybody chooses to do that, is my point.


But we’re not going to ever impede that, and the law should not.  And this is the kind of thing that ought to be available, and will continue to be available.


But some families will say, “I don’t want to do that.  I would rather just donate to research.”


So, this option should be supported and encouraged, and it’s obviously been a wonderful experience for you and Micaela.


So, I just want to make very clear that this initiative does not stop that.  That will occur, but the law’s not going to impede that.


I want to encourage you and others that may want to use that route that his doesn’t do anything to jeopardize that wonderful reality of your life.


Okay, the next witness in opposition.



MS. TESDALL:  By the way, I was told you previously had gotten this.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  We did get it, thank you so much.  We have the videos and we’ll share them with all the members.  Thank you.



MS. MURRAY:  Thank you for the time to speak today.  I appreciate it.


My name is Suzanne Murray, and I am also a Snowflake mom.  I adopted my daughter, Mary, whom I don’t think I need to bring in here.  Everybody’s seen her in the hallways, running up and down.  It’s been a very long day for her.


One of the things that I want to touch bases on is basically, and which Sharon did as well, is that we added nothing to these.  They are living.  They will grow in a dish by themselves, and they grow, and that is a life.


And, you know, many people might argue whether it’s a person or not, but it is alive.


I’ve heard many people in the past refer to our children as dots.  And to put things into perspective, if I were to get into a helicopter, and we were to go out in the parking lot, and I would leave you in the parking lot, eventually, if I went high enough, you too would become a dot.  That doesn’t devalue your life any more just because you appear to be a dot.


Many people have argued that these embryos will be thrown away and will die anyways.  In the end, we all die, but that doesn’t give us the right to kill one another.


The fact is that these embryos will not die because they were unable to survive, but because others are choosing to hand them over for destructive research, instead of letting them implant into a mother’s womb.  One wrong choice does not justify the choice to kill them for research, much less to make taxpayers pay for it.


Somebody today said to allow scientists to decide, not superstition or religion.


Well, I think that’s what the United States is about.  It’s about the people decide, and they vote, and no one person or one set of ideology, or ethics, or what have you decides.  The people decide. 


So, that’s why we’re here today.


The idea of experimenting on human beings because they may die anyway poses a great threat in my opinion to convicted prisoners, terminally ill patients, and more.  The destruction of human embryos for research is a morally complex and divisive issue.  When you consider it with the fact that the embryonic stem cell research has not successfully treated one patient, one single patient, or promises of even doing so, we need to take a deep breath and stop before moving forward with taxpayer funding of such a controversial and unproven venture.


We must help those that are suffering.  I’m a nurse.  I deal with those that are suffering daily.  But not support research that values one life over another, and in my opinion, these are lives.


Again, I added nothing to my daughter.  They placed her in my womb, and she grew on her own.


The choice is not between science and ethics, but between science that is ethically responsible and science that is not.


And I thank you for allowing me to speak.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Let me just ask, because I think your position is one that is deeply held, and I respect that it is your opinion.  And you believe it; it’s a question of faith.


The person who was wonderful enough to provide you an opportunity to adopt an embryo and become a mother, what if that individual had said no, and had chosen to donate to research?



MS. MURRAY:  Just because an option is out there doesn’t necessarily mean it’s right.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  No, my point, however, is if you’re opposed to any person who is a genetic parent -–



MS. MURRAY:  Uh-huh, right.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  If you’re opposed to them making a free choice to donate to research rather than donate to you, are you then saying that we should make it illegal for those persons who seek in vitro fertilization who either achieve it or don’t achieve it?



MS. MURRAY:  I don’t create the law.  I’m just stating that in my view, this is a life.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Right.



MS. MURRAY:  And any –-



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  But those lives are now freely being donated, destroyed, or, in your case, the beauty of life.



MS. MURRAY:  I think a lot of couples in my experience, and I’ve been part of this program now for four years, and I’m very open about the fact that I adopted my daughter nine months early.  And there are many people that I meet who have gone through infertility that did not even know that was an option.


And I think education is the key –-



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Absolutely.



MS. MURRAY:  -- because we don’t know that even of the embryos that we’re talking about today, whether those parents are going to choose it or not.  


I think it’s important that they have the education and the knowledge of it.


It’s not my decision whether or not someone’s going to be arrested or anything else like that.  I follow the law.  I’m a law abiding citizen.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Yes, and I just want to make my point.


Informed consent includes when a woman goes through in vitro fertilization, and has an embryo –- and not just a woman; a family or a couple –- they’re given all the options.  They’re told what do you want to do when you’ve reached this point.



MS. MURRAY:  And most couples that I have met, and I’m only going off my own experience, were not told of the ramifications of, number one, how many leftover embryos that they were going to have.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  But once they have leftover embryos, they’re then informed what the options are.  I know because I did the law that’s now three years old that says, “informed consent.”  Woman cannot produce embryo for sale, embryo cannot be purchased, that’s illegal.



MS. MURRAY:  As it should be.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Well, it wasn’t before my law.


And it also says you have the right to donate to another couple, or you have the right to donate to research.


So, going forward in the last two years, three years, I think, since the law’s been in effect, that is the law.


I mean, an equally compelling case can be made about all the children that are already here who warrant adoption as well.  So, we struggled with this.



MS. MURRAY:  It’s a difference of opinion, because I believe that these children are already here, too.  It’s just a difference of opinion.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  All right.



MS. MURRAY:  Different perspective.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  I appreciate that.


Let me now have the last, is there a Marie Olsen, Concerned Women of America here?


Okay, now we’re going to go to the list of those who signed up today, which is now:  Dick Hooper, Shirley Adams, Tiffany Adams, Sherri Cunial.  Come forward, please.


Welcome.



MR. HOOPER:  Thank you.  Thank you for having me, and thank you for Prop. 71.


I’m going to make this very, very brief.


I am the recipient of gene therapy.  I had genetic therapy on December 8th of 1999.  I received 6 genes in the interior wall of my heart.  Prior to that, in 1993, I had the first coronary artery blockage with three stints placed.


To keep things very brief, I have had in excess of 26 angioplasties.  I have 19 stints in my arteries.  And in November of 1998, Dr. Curtis and Dr. Schatz of Scripps Clinic Hospital, came to me and said, “We’ve run into the wall.  We can’t put any more stints in you,” and I was never a bypass candidate because my heart was in too bad a shape.


I also have bronchiectasis in both lungs, had half a lung removed when I was 11 years old, and I am Type 2 diabetic.


So, any way you cut it, stem cell research can help me.


They implanted the 6 genes in my heart.  To make a long story short, prior to that I could not have walked from where you sit to the back of the room without using nitroglycerin 3 times.  Could not lift a small bag of groceries.  Could not spend more than one minute on a treadmill without two techies helping me off the treadmill and a man standing by with paddles.  They were afraid I was going to go into cardiac arrest.


Six months after the gene therapy, I spent 12 minutes on a treadmill that was elevated three times and speeded up three times.  I work for the American Heart Association and just spent –- in April, we went down to Capitol Hill and spent a day on Capitol Hill.  Walked four miles for them on Capitol Hill.


I cannot tell you what new and modern technology does.  At times, Prop. 71, all those people who are against it, there are many people, and the young woman, just a nurse, just got up and said that people should not have the right to choose life or death.


I disagree with you.  I was given the right to choose in 1999 because I did not expect to see the year 2000.  Then when they came and asked me if I would sign a release and take experimental treatment, I thought I was buying Scripps Hospital, I signed so many papers.  


But I took the treatment, and it’s been a blessing, a real blessing.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  I’m going to ask you to wrap up.



MR. HOOPER:  Genetic therapy does work.  Stem cell research will work.  We have to be brave enough to take the step forward and make it work.


Thank you very much.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you so much, and I appreciate you honoring the time.


And Tiffany Adams, welcome.



MS. ADAMS:  Thank you.


I’m Shirley Adams.  This is my daughter, Tiffany Adams.  And we are from Yorba Linda, California.


We only found out about this meeting last minute, so we drove down.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  We apologize.



MS. ADAMS:  That’s okay.  We wanted to be here.  We were so excited to be able to come and try to give some information.


I’ve spent days on the phone trying to find out things and just couldn’t really get anywhere with it, and I still don’t know if it’s something that can help cerebral palsy, but I believe it can.  It sounds promising.


I jotted down just a few of my thoughts as I was driving down here.  


This really is our only hope.  We don’t have another hope.  There’s not medicines.  There’s not surgery.  This is it for us.


And we want a cure.  We want a miracle.


Like I said, I don’t know if it’ll help CP or not, but it really sounds promising.


Tiffany and I are associated with United Domestic Workers.  It’s a union out of San Diego for care providers for seniors and disabled people, so we are not only concerned for ourselves, but for at least 60,000 other people that could use this, too.


Any time you have something good, there’s always a presence of evil.  And I’ve heard people talking about it.


As far as the religious situation, I believe it’s up to the individual.  I don’t believe in killing anyone.  I would never want to abort a baby to help someone else.  I don’t believe in that.


I’m sure pharmaceutical companies probably are not for this, but you know, I think getting well is better than taking medicines.


Our medical situation is out of control.  My daughter has Medi-Cal.  It’s good to have it, but we don’t like using it because we don’t feel like we get quality care anyhow.


The people have talked about the unlimited uses that could just work for so many ailments.  And I have visual problems.  I have glaucoma and a macular tear, so I might even be able to benefit myself.


But California’s always been at the forefront for doing new things, and it sounds so good.


And I also want to thank any of you that were there for the in-home support program to keep it going.  Until we get stem cells working, we still need that program.


So, thank you so much.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you for being here, and thank you for making here on short notice.


All right, we now have Sherry Cunial, and then Phil Magnan, Ann Wasson, and Ralph Werner.  


Welcome.



MS. CUNIAL:  Thank you very much, Senator Ortiz, and thank you to the staff members that are here today.


My family and I have been hit by cancer multiple times.  On April 2nd of 2003, I was diagnosed with leukemia.  My only chance for full and permanent remission was a stem cell transplant.


I received that on July 23rd of that year, and I’m here today.


I still deal with the side effects of my rejection medications on a daily basis, something that might be changed by future research on stem cells.


My brother was my donor.  He saved my life, and he is now fighting pancreatic cancer, a battle he is not going to win.  I can’t give him his life back like he gave me mine, but I believe that the most probable future cure for his disease is through stem cell research.


Therefore, I am doing everything I can to support this incredible technology.


We’ve lost many members of our family to cancer over the years.  My mother is a cancer survivor.  One of my cousins was diagnosed with a rare bone cancer just one month after my own diagnosis.  My father-in-law was operated on just last week for lung cancer.  


Thankfully, my cousin is in full remission, but the prognosis for my father-in-law is still in question.


Although stem cell transplants work for some diseases that affect the blood cells, it is known that adult stem cells are limited to the types of cells that they can become.


My brother’s cancer, my father-in-law’s cancer, are not blood cell related.  The potential cures for these cancers and other diseases, such as diabetes, heart disease, need stem cells that can become cells for the particular organs that are affected.  The best chance of discovering these cures is using the pluropotent or embryonic stem cells which we know have the flexibility to become any type of body cell.


Embryonic stem cell advocates call for the use of embryos from in vitro fertilization clinics that might otherwise be destroyed or stored indefinitely, regardless of whether or not they are used for this life-saving research.


I believe that the most sacred and important thing a person can do is save a life.  Why not use these embryos to save lives?  To the save the life of my brother or my father-in-law?  Maybe it’s too late for them, but what of my daughter and my grandchildren in the future?


Like Mr. Sprague, I too have learned about hope through my ordeal.  I look in the eyes of those that have lost loved ones due to these horrible diseases, or my brother who’s praying for a miracle so that he can watch his two young children grow up, I know that we’ve wasted too much time already in finding these cures.  


We need Proposition 71.  We are already leaving our children and grandchildren with burdens of past generations.  Why not leave them with a good legacy, one of hope, one of curing diseases, and one of saving lives?


Thank you.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you for your words.


Phil Magnan and Ann Wasson, Ralph Werner, Molly Grace Israel.  If you could all come forward, stand in line so we save time.


Welcome.



MR. MAGNAN:  Thank you.  It’s great to be here.  Fantastic testimony today.


I want to make it really clear that there are adult stem cells that are being transformed into all three necessary tissues.


By the way, my name is Phil Magnon.  I’m with Biblical Family Advocates.


Prop. 71 is truly a funding of immoral research.  It really is economics over morality.  It’s going to create a belief that it’s acceptable to kill human at the earliest stage of life to benefit another.


I can say unequivocally that I and my family members will reject any benefits with any kind of research from SB 71 that has anything to do with embryonic stem cell research.  We would find it repulsive and immoral to do so.


I am a father of three daughters and four granddaughters, and I can say unequivocally that I would leave them in the hands of God, I would leave them in the hands of medical science, and I would certainly leave them in the hands of adult stem cell research that shows a great deal more promise.  


Shall I even say that word “promise” has been used quite a bit today.  A promise is something that people actually follow through with.  My dad told me that when you promise someone something, you’re going to follow through with it.


There is no promise in embryonic stem cell research right now.  There’s only hope.


And I’m not trying to dash anybody’s hope, but there’s a great deal more cures with adult stem cell research.


SB 71 is funding the reducing of humans made in the image of God to spare parts.  This resembles what we fear about A Brave New World.  But it’s not going to be really all that brave; it’ll end up being rather cowardly.


Some may say it’s just a blob of cells.  Then consider these two last points that I would make.


Children who are conceived by IVF could be actually adopted by Snowflakes, you know, through these organizations.  It gives women the opportunity, without having to create so many embryos irresponsibly through IVF.


The other thing is that if truly it’s just a blob of tissue, if it’s just a blob of cells, consider this.  If we were to eliminate every one of those blobs of cells in the world and not allow anyone to have those blobs of cells, you would create an extinction among the human race.  It is not just merely a blob of cells.  It’s a human being at a certain stage of development.  And I, for one, do not believe that children should be discriminated against based upon their size.


Jesus made it very clear, when you did it to the least of these, you did it unto me.  Jesus said, “Do unto others as you would have them do unto you.”  


Would you want to be killed so that someone else can live?


I challenge you with that ethic, because that’s the kind of morality that we’re trying to force with SB 71.  It’s the funding of making people into spare parts.


I implore you on the basis of mercy, compassion, and ethics and morality, and if we throw away those very indispensable things in our society, I dare say we are no longer a society, but we’ve reduced ourselves to something less.


Thank you.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you.  That was three-and-a-half minutes, so thank you for your time.


Is Ann here?  I think she was here earlier.  She probably left.


Ralph Werner, and then Molly Grace Israel, and then David Larocca.


Welcome.



MR. WERNER:  Thanks for the opportunity to speak here today.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  You know what?  I’m going to apologize because I’m going to leave the podium for a bit just because it’s been a long day and lots of water.  I’ll be right back.



MR. WERNER:  I understand.  I had to do the same myself.


I just have a few –- a short prepared statement, and then a couple comments afterwards.


My name is Ralph Werner, and I live in Escondido.  I was born in 1956 with a congenital heart defect.  


My younger brother was also afflicted with a congenital heart defect.


We both had open heart surgery in 1974.  I was 18; he was 13.  We have both had continued difficulties since that time.  I first had atrial fibrillation with a rapid ventricular response in the middle 1980s, which resulted in my having a pacemaker implanted in 1987, following oblation therapy to stop conduction of atopic activity through my ventricles.


My brother, just this past February, had a Maze procedure to accomplish the same goal.


In 1994, I was diagnosed with congestive heart failure.  In 1998, Type 2 diabetes.  The congestive heart failure ended my promising career in basic cardiology.


Our descendents are at risk from the same hardships as are those of both of our other siblings.  This research holds the promise that they might be spared.


Under the Constitution of the United States, we have the right to donate our reproductive material for this research, and no one, regardless of their beliefs, has a right to deny us this.  When our founding fathers put into paper, they were progressive enough to see and indicate that they were -– that we are all entitled to the freedom of religion.  


What those who oppose this research refuse to see is that freedom of religion is all inclusive and extends to freedom from religion.  This means that they do not have the right to impose their beliefs on those of us who do not share them.  Even some who share their beliefs might believe in this research enough to have a conviction in that belief to donate their reproductive material for this research.


In closing, I would simply ask:  Who among us could be so heartless as to deny a mother, a father, and most of all any child the hope for a normal, healthy, happy life if there exists even a remote possibility of a means to provide it?


On the comment part, one thing that they did not say, and I believe this is a possibility, the promise is there that they may be able to, through this stem cell research, diagnose pre-birth conditions and even treat them pre-birth.


So, I am for 71.



MR. HANSEL:  Thank you, Mr. Werner.


Molly Grace Israel, next.



MS. ISRAEL:  Thank you very much.


I’m Molly Israel.  I’m a nurse.


The same month that I graduated from Loyola University with a Bachelor’s of Nursing, I was diagnosed with multiple sclerosis.  I continued in my career as a nurse, as a pediatric nurse, and I loved it, but eventually I did have to give it up because, obviously, I can't take care of children very well when I’m using a walker or a cane or a wheelchair.


As a nurse, I’ve researched it.  I’ve looked through, read all the articles; I’ve read all the research on stem cell research, embryonic stem cell research, and adult stem cell research, cord blood research.  And I find no hope in, no documentation anywhere that embryonic stem cell research is giving us results at this time, yet adult stem cells are.


I can’t see putting all our money into the one basket, as one person said, because we do need this adult stem cell research.


For instance, the only major adult stem cell research for MS right now is being done in Canada.  Why isn’t it being done here?  Why can’t our people, right here in California, receive that research?


That’s all I have to say.  Thank you.



MR. HANSEN:  Thank you very much, Ms. Israel.


David Larocca?  Is he here?


James MacLaren, do you want to come up?



MR. MacLAREN:  Good afternoon.


My name is James MacLaren.


In 1992, I was the world’s fastest man at all distances from a mile up to the Iron Man Triathlon on one leg.  I had lost my leg due to an amputation after being broad-sided by a New York City bus after graduating from Yale College in 1985.


In ’92, I went 10-1/2 hours of the Iron Man, which would have won the race 15 years ago against two-legged athletes.  Eight months later, I was in a race.  A mistake was made by a traffic marshal, a van was waved into my bicycle, and I broke my neck at the C-5 level and was diagnosed that I would never move from the neck below for the rest of my life.


Now, you might think that I’m here as a proponent of Prop. 71 for spinal cord injuries.  That’s both true and not true.


I’m here because I believe in the words that Maya Angelo said:  that a hero is anyone who’s truly intent on making this world a better place to live.  


And that’s the kind of thing that this research will do.  And there are many understood things about the research.  Unfortunately we have called it, because things need to be simplified, we have called it stem cell research.  But many of the doctors are using combination theories.


And I am here because if you want to talk about a mission plan, or a mission statement, it seems to me that this country has quite an extraordinary one.  And it uses words like freedom, and integrity, and possibility. 


And I would stand behind Prop. 71 and not just for myself,  because quite frankly, ladies and gentlemen, I’ve said this since my second accident when I broke my neck, I don’t care if I walk.  My friends all think:  Oh, you’d get up and do a marathon again some day.  Bowel, bladder, and sexual function might be a nice thing, but you know, other than that, I’m a very happy person.  


I love life.  And whether I walk or whether I get out of this wheelchair is not going to make me a better person.


However, there are millions and millions of other people that Prop. 71 can and, I believe, will aid, if not in our generation, then in our children’s generation.


Thank you very much, and thank you, Senator Ortiz.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you.


The next speaker is Amy Denhart, then Dawn Johnson, and Catherine Rodriguez.  If we could have you come forward, we’d save time with walking.


Amy.  Is Dawn here?  Dawn is gone.  About Catherine Rodriguez?  Okay, you’ll be next, and then after that we will have George Burrows, and then Art Cromey.


Amy, welcome.



MS. DENHART:  Thank you, Senator Ortiz.


My name is Amy Denhart.  I am the Director of Public Affairs for Planned Parenthood of San Diego and Riverside Counties.  And I’m here to represent Planned Parenthood Affiliates of California.


Planned Parenthood is the world’s largest not-for-profit reproductive health care organization.  We have provided health care for and protection of the rights of women and their families for 88 years.  We have 866 clinics nationwide and provided medical services for more than 2.7 million people in 2003; half a million of those are in California.


As a representative from the largest pro-choice organization, I just want to reiterate what the Senator stated earlier, that Planned Parenthood strongly supports Proposition 71.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  I appreciate that, because I think it warrants highlighting.  I just don’t want there to be any misrepresentation that Planned Parenthood isn’t in support.



MS. DENHART:  And in addition to Planned Parenthood, there are other pro-choice organizations that also support Proposition 71.  I have a statement here from California Now in support; also the Feminist Majority Foundation; Senator Barbara Boxer and Senator Diane Feinstein.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Wonderful.



MS. DENHART:  Stem cell research, as you’ve heard, can lead to treatments and cures for many diseases, including cancer, heart disease, diabetes, and HIV/AIDS.  


With our mission of supporting and helping and protecting the health care of women and their families, it makes sense that Planned Parenthood strongly supports Proposition 71.


We were deeply concerned when President Bush ignored the wishes of a majority of Americans and the advice of scientists by severely restricting federal funding for the medical research used in embryonic stem cells.  This research holds great promise for people afflicted with a broad range of debilitating and life-threatening conditions.  Their hope was diminished that day.  Proposition 71 restores some of that hope.


So, thank you again for giving me the opportunity speak here today.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you for your leadership.  Your organization’s been well represented in the last couple of years in the efforts that you’ve done, so thank you.


Okay, we now have Catherine Rodriguez, welcome.



DR. RODRIGUEZ:  My name is Dr. Catherine Rodriguez.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  I didn’t have “Doctor.”  I apologize.



DR. RODRIGUEZ:  That’s okay, and it’s not a medical doctorate.  My doctorate’s in education.


I’m 48 years old, and I was diagnosed with Parkinson’s Disease on May the 10th, 1999.  I’ll always remember the date because May 10th is Mother’s Day in Mexico, and it was one hell of a Mother’s Day gift.


I was a school principal at the time.  I remember going to the neurologist in the morning, after my primary care physician had told me that I should see a neurologist about this tremor in my right hand.  I blamed it on stress.  I blame everything on stress, and being a school principal of a large charter school is kind of stressful.


Anyway, at that point of time in my life part of the argument was that only old people had Parkinson’s, and I was 41 years old.  That’s not all that old.


The neurologist said he believed I had Parkinson’s, and I kind of said, Okay, and I went back to work, called my husband on the way home and said, “Well, I think I have Parkinson’s, dear.”  And at that time, neither my husband nor I had any clue of how that would change our lives.


I’m no longer working.  Parkinson’s and being a school principal just was more than my body could handle.


I spend my days trying to live, quote, “a normal life.”  There are a variety of side effects to my medications and other effects from Parkinson’s that are not as well known as the tremor, which is a little more obvious to most people.  I have difficulties with balance, increased stiffness in my muscles and arms, and this can be at times often rather painful.  I’m slow.  I don’t always speak clearly, although I’m trying very hard right now to enunciate.  My handwriting is cramped and not legible.  I’ve lost a lot of weight.  I have gastrointestinal problems, which is a nice way of saying you have constipation.  And I have difficulty sleeping.


As I said, I spend my day trying to make my life seem normal.


The good news, though, about having Parkinson’s is that now working at home more, I get to spend more time with my grandchildren, and spend time in my garden, and with my husband.  But are those are things that we should try and do in our lives with or without having a disease to keep you away from that job.


I’m asking people to please vote for Proposition 71 because that stem cell research and production of dopamine is my only chance for living a really normal life and not trying to spend my day trying to pretend like I have a normal life.


Thank you.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you so much for your testimony and for being here.


Can George Burrows come forward, then Mr. Art Cromey, and then Mr. Scott Drisch, and that will end our Public Comment period, and we’ll have closing comments.  Hopefully, I’ll catch my plane on time.



MR. BURROWS:  Thank you, Senator, for being a visionary such a true advocate of this research.


I’ve just finished seeing a film called, “Why Human Embryonic Stem Cell Research Should Receive Government Support.”  It’ll go up on the International Society for Stem Cell Research Scientists site on Friday.  It’s ISSCR.org.  You can watch this first-hand, and it has Dr. Snyder, Goldstein, Keirstead, Herb Weissman, of course, Goldberg, and all the usual godfathers and suspects of all this great work and visionary thinking, which is still currently a generation off.


But I what I think we’re going to find if California doesn’t manage to carry the day is [unintelligible] at the CIA during the Reagan years, that we’re going to have an OPEC situation, where the therapies will be controlled offshore, in a cartel situation, because intellectual properties will reside there because the therapies, you know, will see their way through clinical trials somewhere other than the United States.


So, what we will have is control of pricing, and the pricing of therapies happening in such a way that this will ensure that we have a rich man’s boutique going.  It will not be a public resource available universally to health care to the average Joe on the street.  It will be for the very rich only.


We’re headed that way fast.  We had to get through the Reagan administration to have the National Institutes for Health fund AIDS in any meaningful way in terms of research, and I’m afraid we’re here again.


So, thank you again, Senator.  ISSCR.org will allow you to go through the stuff and get the arguments as to why this might be a great idea.


Thank you very much.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you for your time and testimony, and we will watch that site.


Mr. Croney and then Mr. Scott Drisch.



MR. CRONEY:  Thank you, Madame Chair.


Most of the points I was prepared to make today have already been covered, so I’ll just touch on a few things that I don’t believe have been.


First, we believe Prop. 71 will –- well, it’s obvious.  It is exploiting the suffering and desperate people we’ve seen, some of them we’ve seen testify here.


I have two grandsons, my two favorite people in whole world.  I have two grandchildren and they’re both boys.  They both have Type 1 diabetes.  Their only hope for a cure is stem cell research.


However, we believe Prop. 71 and embryonic stem cell research will actually hurt them and other suffering people.  This is going to draw researchers away from some of the research they’re doing now.  $300 million a year is a tremendous amount of money.  It’s going to be an irresistible temptation to some of them who are always fighting for research grants and so forth.  Come to Southern California; you’ve got guaranteed funding for 10 years, and we can’t afford to lose even one person that’s involved in umbilical cord or adult stem cell research now.


Prop. 71 allows its institute to develop its own scientific and medical standards.  It’s exempt from all other medical and scientific laws, past and future. 


We’ve heard quite a bit of talk about adult stem cells, and spinal cord injuries, and so forth.  Adult stem cells are even working with those.  In Portugal, 20 out of 20 people, 

Dr. Carlos Lima, has had success with severe spinal cord injured people in Portugal.


Other countries, America –- President Bush is not alone in opposing embryonic stem cell research funding from cloned human embryos.  Some of the other countries:  Australia, Austria, Canada, Costa Rica, Denmark, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Russia, Spain, Switzerland are some of the others.


America is not standing alone with those of us who are opposing Prop. 71. 


We ask you to consider all of these things.  We would ask for your “No” vote when the time comes on election day.


Thank you very much.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you, Art.


Let me now ask Mr. Scott Drisch to come forward, and then Mr. Goldstein has asked to add comments, then we’re really going to wrap up because I’m going to miss my flight.


Welcome.



MR. DRISCH:  Thank you for allowing me to be a late addition to the list, Senator Ortiz and members of the Committee.  Thank you very much.


My name is Scott Drisch.  I am here on behalf of my nine-year-old daughter Maggie, who was diagnosed Type 1 diabetes on her seventh birthday, a day I’ll never forget.


I’m also here as the Legislative Chairperson for Juvenile Diabetes in Orange County.


I’m a fiscal conservative.  I’m a social conservative.  I’m a Catholic, and I support Proposition 71.


You know the statistics.  We’ve heard them time and time again, so I will not bore the Committee with those issues again.


I stand here before you representing children and families across the country of Type 1 diabetics.  This is promising research.  I’ve been part of this initiative since Proposition 71 got off the ground.


I just returned from Europe on a family vacation, where I brought back home a Belgium 17-year-old girl with Type 1 diabetes to finish her high school studies here in the states, so now I’m the parent actually of two Type 1 diabetes.


Let me just close by simply saying thank you for your hard work, Senator.  Keep it going, and we support Proposition 71.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Almost there, so thank you for your hard work.


Okay, Larry, welcome again.



DR. GOLDSTEIN:  Thank you for your forbearance and time, Senator. 


I want to clarify three pieces of misinformation that have been broadly promulgated today.


First, let me say that embryonic stem cell science is highly credible and of high quality, with enormous proof of concept and evidence of enormous promise.  And when I say that, I represent over 20 Nobel Laureates, scientific organizations such as the California Medical Association, the American Medical Association, the National Medical Association, and many others.


And I’d ask you and your colleagues to stack those opinions against the scientific opinion of one physician that you heard today.


Second, I want to say that I’m disappointed that opponents of Prop. 71 have resorted to scare tactics, scare tactics about cloning.  Prop. 71 is not about cloning people; it’s about research to understand and treat disease.


Third, the opponents have resorted to scare tactics about cancer.  Professor Keirstead, unfortunately, had to leave, but I spoke to him before he left.  According to Hans, they have given transplants of embryonic stem cell derived oligodendrocytes to 1250 rats.  Not a single rat has developed a tumor.


I rest my case.  Thank you.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you, Larry.


Let’s see whether there are closing comments from staff here today.



MS. SPEHN:  I just wanted to thank you for coming to San Diego and conducting such an informative and comprehensive hearing as you did today.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  And you are?



MS. SPEHN:  Deanna Spehn for Assembly Member Christine Kehoe.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  I just really want the public to know that Assembly Member Kehoe has been a big supporter, and her staff has been very patient here all day.  I really appreciate it.


Thank you for letting us be in here in your neck of the woods.


It’s tough coming to San Diego, you know.


Other staff comments?  And we encourage you on the other side of the aisle, that is represented here, and we work well on our Committee staff even when we disagree.  Any comments from anyone here on behalf of the representatives?



MS. BOYD:  I’d just like to thank everybody who came, and thank you for your testimony, and to thank Senator Ortiz for all her hard work and accomplishments.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  And you are?



MS. BOYD:  I am Lindsay Boyd with Congressman Filner’s office.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you for being represented here.


Others?



MS. POLMANO:  Roz Polmano from Assembly Health Committee.


On behalf of the Committee, we’d like to thank Senator Ortiz for having this hearing.  And it is our hope that when voters go to the polls on November 2, that [unintelligible] on this proposition.


Thank you.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Come on, Teresa.  You’re new to us, but that’s okay.



MS. SMANIO:  I just want to thank everyone, too, for educating me.  I’m really happy to have been here and learn as much about this from both sides.  I’ll go home knowing more and becoming more educated from all the materials.


Thank you.



CHAIRWOMAN ORTIZ:  Thank you for being here, representing the other side of the aisle in our Senate Health Committee.


She inherited our committee late in the Session, but she’s been wonderful as Committee staff to the Republican Members of the Committee.


So thank you, Teresa, for being here.


Let me just close.


Let me just thank all of you who were so patient and didn’t get enough time to speak, but came because you felt passionately about this, on either side of the issue.  We can respectfully disagree on the policy, on the science, but I hope that we at least allow some opportunity to arrive at decisions with some debate.  


When we make incredibly far reaching policy in the State of California, we ought to be informed.  We can ultimately disagree on where you fall on the issue, but I think we have an obligation to the electorate, particularly in initiatives which often find their way to the ballot independent of the legislative process.  Sometimes that’s good; sometimes that’s bad.


Let me thank my staff, who’ve been great:  Peter, Susan.  They’ve worked on this Committee for a long time now.  Christa’s here.  I couldn’t do it without them, and I thank you guys for your hard work.


Let me just thank all the presenters.  Always it’s a joy to work with the researchers in this area.  It’s been a wonderful couple of years with just brilliant people who care passionately about a policy that, I think, does indeed hold promise, not just for California, but for the world.  We’re so gifted to be able to have the researchers of this caliber who are primarily on the support side of this initiative.


We’ve yet to see a ground swell, or even a trickle, of researchers on the opposition side, qualified researchers with credentials and a history of working in this area that are opposed to it.


So let me just make the case that I happen to believe science ought to drive this policy.  It causes me to be very supportive of this.


And I didn’t want to spend a lot of time with the opposition, but I think there are some points that need to be made.


Let me just say what this initiative doesn’t do.  This initiative in no way jeopardizes emergency care funding or clinic funding.  


This initiative in no way compromises Medi-Cal or Medicare funding.


This initiative, quite frankly, could bring great relief to not only the [missing on tape] and in fact, many who are on the opposed side of this that are elected official have fought fiercely when we, I as Chair of the Senate Health Committee, have attempted to increase funding for those very programs.


And I’m sure Mr. Fortanasce, if he’s indeed followed my career, understands where I’ve been on those very critical programs.  And I would hope that he would get some of those elected officials who are on the opposed side of this initiative to indeed support the funding that we need to maintain those programs.


This proposal in no way jeopardizes the Breast Cancer Fund.


It is no way jeopardizes women’s health by encouraging out of control fertility.  Indeed, the informed consent provisions are now in place as a result of the work that I have done.  And a decision of an individual or a parent who create in vitro fertilization embryos will continue to exist.  


The notion that we will adopt every embryo left over in in vitro fertilization clinics with adopting parents, I think, is unrealistic.  We’ve seen 40, I think, adoptions due to the Snowflakes Program.  We ought to encourage that.


But we also have to understand that not every parent, or not every couple, or not every individual that has left over embryo in in vitro fertilization clinics are exercising that option, and they choose a higher, in their mind, good of donating to research.  And we ought not to take that choice away from anybody, and this initiative will not do that.


Let me say what this proposal and this initiative will do.  It’ll make the investment in the medical research, the scientific research, the promise that California has always symbolized for the rest of the world.  And it’s the first big commitment to say:  We believe that we need to continue to be leaders in the area of health care and public health.  The innovation and the promise and the bright light of California’s strength, its assets through our biomedical community, could be realized.


And what it says is that we can bring brilliant scientists here.  I will feel like we have achieved something in this state if we can say to Roger Peterson, who left UCSF, who was fortunate enough to open the first hearing I did at Stanford three years ago, when we launched this idea and this cause.  And he opened it with a video tape minutes before we were scheduled to begin that hearing.  And I had the honor of meeting him in Washington, D.C., when I was called by Arlen Spector to do a presentation before the Senate Appropriations Committee on California’s new law.


I know we will have achieved success when I can say to Roger Peterson, “It’s time to come home.”


We don’t want to lose the Roger Petersons of the world.  We don’t want Evan just to leave us and go back, not just to Boston but rather to some other country.  


And we don’t want families to be put in jail because they’re seeking hope for their children through a therapeutic treatment that may be provided in another country.


So, we stand at the brink of that, that great tomorrow.  And it’s not about cloning human beings, because that is against the law.  California has a law in place that Congress has not been able to enact.


So, not only have we been a leader in innovation and medical research and scientific research, we have also been a leader in the ethical parameters of this very serious and very significant area that we’re embarking upon.


So, understand that we all have to take that responsibility very seriously, and I hope all of you will take that seriously when you go into the polling place on election day.  


We can provide more to the country and to our families, and many of us who weren’t able to see that hope realized for our loved ones, let’s hope that that next generation of young people can be saved from the suffering that these diseases bring to us.


With that, let me thank you all for being here.


This hearing is adjourned.  Thank you.




[Thereupon this hearing of the Senate




Committee on Health and Human Services



 was adjourned.]
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